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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Shareholders of Lovćen banka a.d. Podgorica 

 
Report on Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Lovćen banka a.d. Podgorica 
(hereinafter the “Bank”), which comprise the balance sheet as of 31 December 2017 and the 
income statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the accounting regulations prevailing in Montenegro, based on 
the Law on Accounting (“Official Gazette of Montenegro”, no. 052/16) and the regulations of 
the Central Bank of Montenegro governing the financial reporting of banks, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance the Law on Accounting prevailing in Montenegro and 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Bank as of 31 December 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting regulations prevailing in Montenegro 
and regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro governing the financial reporting of banks. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Shareholders of Lovćen banka a.d. Podgorica (Continued) 

 
Report on annual business report 
 
Management of the Bank is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
accompanying annual business report in accordance with the requirements of the Law on 
Accounting (“Official Gazette of Montenegro“, no. 052/16). Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the consistency of the Bank’s annual business report for the year ended 31 December 
2017 with the audited separate financial statements for the same year. Our procedures in this 
regard were performed in accordance with the applicable Standard on Auditing 720 “The 
Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing Audited 
Financial Statements”, and are only limited to the assessment of the consistency of financial 
information disclosed in the annual business report with the audited separate financial 
statements. 
 
In our opinion, financial information disclosed in the Bank’s annual business report for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial 
statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2017 and prepared in accordance with 
the Law on Accounting. 
 
 
Podgorica, 8 May 2018 
 
 
 

Milovan Popović 

Certified Auditor 
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1. BANK'S FOUNDATION AND ACTIVITY  
 
Lovćen Banka AD, Podgorica (hereinafter: the "Bank") has been founded by changing the registered activity as well as the 
name of Microcredit Financial Institution (MFI) Kontakt into a bank that started with its operations on August 25, 2014. MFI 
Kontakt had operated since March 25, 2011, when it was registered in the Central Registry of the Commercial Court in 
Podgorica, under the registration number 4- 0009270/001. 
 
On December 3, 2013, on behalf of its founders, MFI Kontakt submitted a request to the Central Bank of Montenegro for 
issuing a banking license to Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica. The Council of the Central Bank of Montenegro adopted a 
decision to issue the banking license to the Bank at its session held on May 28, 2014. 
 
The Bank was registered with the Central Registry maintained by the Commercial Court under the registration number 4-
0009270/011 on June 27, 2014. 
 
The Bank was founded by residents and foreign natural persons with significant banking experience, by the domestic 
company “Zetagradnja” d.o.o., Podgorica, as well as the German state fund DEG (KfW Group).  
 
The Bank’s activities include universal banking products in accordance with the license, predominantly credit, deposit and 
guarantee activities, as well as foreign-exchange transactions, depot operations, safekeeping services, issuance, 
processing and recording of payment instruments. The activity of the Bank includes credit, deposit and guarantee activities, 
as well as foreign-exchange transactions, depot operations, safekeeping services, issuance, processing and recording of 
payment instruments 
 
The Bank is headquartered in Podgorica, at Bulevar Džordža Vašingtona Street, No. 56/I. As at December 31, 2017 the 
Bank consisted of its Head Office in Podgorica and 8 branches. As at December 31, 2017 the Bank had 95 employees 
(December 31, 2016: 82 employees and December 31, 2015: 79 employees).   
 
According to the Decision no. 4-0009270/026 issued by the Central Business Entities Register on January 12, 2017, the 
change of the Executive Director for Corporate Banking and Asset Management (Vinko Nikić) and the Executive Director 
for Retail Banking and Branch Offices (Draško Trninić) at business entity Lovcen banka AD Podgorica was recorded. In 
May 2017 the Board of Directors relieved the CEO Goran Knežević of duties, at his request, and appointed Vinko Nikić as 
the acting CEO and Nenad Radulović as the Liquidity Management Executive Director (Decision No. 4-0009270/028 issued 
by the Central Business Entities Register on June 7, 2017). In June 2017 the Board of Directors passed a Decision on 
appointing Vinko Nikic as the Bank's CEO (Decision No. 4-0009270/029 issued by the Central Business Entities Register 
on June 16, 2017).   

 
Bank's executive directors until June 2017: 
 
FIRST AND LAST 
NAME FUNCTION Function performed from: 
Goran Knežević, 
PhD CEO  October 17, 2016 

Vinko Nikić, PhD 
Executive Director of Corporate Banking and Asset 
Management August 25, 2014 

Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail Banking and Branch Offices January 12, 2017 
 
Bank's executive directors since June 2017:  
 
FIRST AND LAST 
NAME FUNCTION Function performed since: 

Vinko Nikić, PhD CEO  June 16, 2017 

Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail Banking and Branch Offices January 12, 2017 

Nenad Radulović 
Executive Director for Risk, Finance, Accounting, IT and 
Liquidity Management June 7, 2017 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
2.1. Basis for Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements  
 
The Bank prepares its financial statements (hereinafter "the financial statements") in conformity with the Law on Accounting 
of Montenegro ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", No. 52/16) which entails implementation of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and decisions of the Central Bank of Montenegro governing financial reporting of banks. 
 

The Bank's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Decision on the Content, Deadlines and 
Manner of Compiling and Submitting Financial Statements of Banks (Official Gazette of Montenegro, No. 15/12 and 18/13).  
 

In accordance with the Law on Accounting and Auditing of Montenegro, International Accounting Standards ("IAS") and 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") published by the International Accounting Standards Board, should 
be adopted and published by a respective competent authority of Montenegro who got the right on translation and 
publishing from the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Therefore, only IFRS and IAS officially adopted and 
published by the respective and competent authority of Montenegro may be applicable. The last officially translated IAS 
and IFRS are those translated in 2009 (except for IFRS 7) and newly adopted IFRS 10, 11, 12 and 13, which are applicable 
from 2013.  
 
Taking into consideration the effects that the above-mentioned departures of the Montenegro accounting regulations from 
IFRS and IAS can have on the presentation of the Bank's financial statements, the accompanying financial statements 
differ and depart from IFRS and IAS in that regard. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, unless otherwise stated 
in the accounting policies. In the preparation of the accompanying financial statements, the Bank has adhered to the 
accounting policies described in Note 3 to the financial statements, based on accounting, banking and tax regulations of 
Montenegro.   
 
The financial statements of the Bank are presented in thousands of euros (EUR), which is the functional currency of the 
Bank and the official currency in which financial statements are to be submitted in Montenegro. Unless otherwise indicated, 
all amounts are stated in thousands of EUR. 
 
2.2. Use of Estimates  
 
The presentation of financial statements requires the Bank's management to make the best possible estimates and 
reasonable assumptions that affect the presented values of assets and liabilities, as well as the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities and receivables as of the date of the preparation of the financial statements, and the income and expenses arising 
during the accounting period. These estimations and assumptions are based on information available to us as at the 
financial statements preparation date. However, the actual results may differ from the values estimated in this manner. 
The most significant estimates and assumptions were made in the following balance sheet positions: 
 

 Provisions for loans and receivables from customers 
 Provisions for loans and receivables to banks 
 Provision for off-balance-sheet items 
 The useful life of intangible assets, property and equipment 

  
Results achieved may depart from these estimates. 
 
2.3. Going Concern  
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the going concern basis, which presupposes that the Bank will 
continue to operate over an unlimited period of time in the foreseeable future.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
3.1. Interest and Fee Income and Expense Recognition 
 
Interest Income and Expenses  
 
Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments measured at 
amortized cost of total income using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of a financial instrument or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest 
rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider 
future credit losses. 
 
Fee Income and Expenses  
 
Income and expenses from fees arising for the banking services that are provided or obtained are recognized at the 
moment of occurrence, i.e. at the moment the service was received, or provided. 
 
Fee income and expenses that are a part of effective interest rate on financial assets and liabilities are accrued and 
recognized as a part of effective interest rate. 
 
Fee and commission income and expenses also contain fees on guarantees and letters of credit by the Bank, domestic 
and international payments and transactions in foreign currencies, intermediary and other Bank's services. 

 
3.2. Foreign Exchange Translation  
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into EUR at the official exchange rate prevailing on the 
Interbank Market, at the date of each transaction. 
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into EUR by applying the official exchange rate, as 
determined on the Interbank Market, prevailing at the statement of financial position date. 
 
Net foreign exchange gains or losses arising upon the translation of transactions, and the assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are credited or charged to the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Commitments and contingent liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into EUR by applying the official 
exchange rates prevailing on the Interbank Market, at the statement of financial position date. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 
3.3. Leasing  
 
Leases where the lessor retains significant risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. The 
payments made under operating leases are charged to operating expenses in the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease ends before the expiry of the lease period, all payments 
required by the lessor as penalty are recognized as an expense in the period in which the termination of the lease occurred. 
 
3.4. Taxes and Contributions 
 
Income Taxes 
 
Current Income Taxes  
 
Income taxes are calculated and paid in conformity with the Law on Corporate Income Tax (Official Gazette of Montenegro, 
No.65/01, 12/02, 80/04, 40/08, 86/09, 40/11, 14/12, 61/13 and 55/16). 
 
A taxable profit is determined based upon the income stated in its statutory income statement following certain adjustments 
to its income and expenses performed in a manner defined by the tax regulations. Income tax expense is calculated using 
the straight-line rate of 9% on taxable income (2016: 9%). 
 
Capital losses may be set off against capital gains earned in the same year. In case there are outstanding capital losses 
even after the set-off of capital losses against capital gains earned in the same year, these outstanding losses are available 
for carryforward in the ensuing 5 years. 
 
Montenegrin tax regulations do not envisage that any tax losses of the current period may be used to recover taxes paid 
within a specific carryback period. However, any current year losses reported in the annual corporate income tax returns 
may be carried forward and used to reduce or eliminate taxes to be paid in future accounting periods, but only for an 
ensuing period of a maximum of five years.   
 
Deferred Income Taxes  
 
Deferred income tax is determined using the balance sheet liability method, for the temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and their carrying values in the financial statements. The currently- enacted tax rates 
at the balance sheet date are used to determine the deferred income tax amount. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized 
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for the deductible temporary differences, and the 
tax effects of income tax losses and credits available for carry forward, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which deferred tax assets may be utilized. 
 
Deferred taxes related with to the re-estimation of the fair value of investments available-for-sale are calculated and 
accounted for directly against or in favour of capital and at the same time are recorded in the income statement along with 
deferred profits or losses.  
 
Taxes, contributions and other duties not related to operating results   
 
Taxes, contributions and other duties that are not related to the bank's operating result, include property taxes and other 
various taxes and contributions paid pursuant to state and municipal regulations. 
 
3.5. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents relate to cash on hand (in EUR and foreign currencies), deposits with the Central bank of 
Montenegro and other banks. 
 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid placements that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents represent term deposits with commercial banks with maturity of up 
to three months. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.6. Financial Assets 

 
3.6.1. Classification  

 
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables; available-for-sale financial assets and held-to- maturity financial assets. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition. 
 
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or 
loss at inception.  
 
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling in the near 
term or if there is evidence of an actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or if it is decided by the Management. 
 
Derivatives are always categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging instruments. 
 
(b) Loans and receivables  
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They arise when the Bank provides money or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the 
receivable. Loans and receivables comprise loans and receivables to banks and customers.   
 
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets  
 
Available for sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are 
not classified as one of the remaining three categories of financial assets - held to maturity financial assets, financial assets 
at fair value through profit and loss or loans. Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity 
prices. These financial instruments include equity investments and debt securities. 
 
(d) Held-to-maturity financial assets  
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payment deadlines the 
Bank's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  
 
3.6.2. Measurement and Recognition  
 
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets at fair 
through profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are 
charged to operating expenses in the income statement. 
 
Financial assets available for sale and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair 
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are 
recognized in the period in which they are incurred.  
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets available for sale are reported in equity in the 
revaluation reserves, until the financial asset is to be derecognized or impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in equity are recognized in the income statement. 
 
Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value increased by transaction costs. They are subsequently valued 
at amortized cost, obtained by applying the effective interest method, net of accumulated depreciation. Amortized value is 
calculated by taking into account all issuance costs and any discount or premium on settlement. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognized in the income statement.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.6. Financial Assets (Continued) 
 
3.6.2. Measurement and Recognition (Continued)  
 
Financial assets available for sale are measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized directly in equity 
as revaluation reserve. If the investment is ceded, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized 
in the income statement. Interest that is earned while holding financial assets available for sale is recognized as interest 
income using the effective interest method. Dividends earned while holding financial assets available for sale, are 
recognized in the income statement when the right to payment is established. Losses arising from the impairment of the 
value of such investments are recognized in the income statement and cease to be recognized as revaluation reserves. 
 
Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets quoted in an active market with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities, which the Bank intends and has the ability to hold to maturity. After the initial measurement, 
financial assets held to maturity are subsequently valued at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Depreciation and amortization is included in interest income. 
Losses arising from the impairment of the values of such investments are recognized in the income statement. 
 
3.6.3. Derecognition  

 
The Company ceases to recognize financial assets only when the contracting rights on cash flows arising from financial 
assets expire, or if it transfers the financial assets and thus transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
Recognition of financial liabilities ceases when the liability is settled i.e. when the debt was paid, cancelled or expired.  
 
If the conditions for the exclusion of receivables from the balance sheet are fulfilled, the Bank is obliged to write off the 
receivable and, in the amount due, record it in internal records till the finalization of the collection.  
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance sheet items   
 
The Decision of the Central Bank of Montenegro on the Minimum Standards for Credit Risk Management in Banks ("Official 
Gazette of Montenegro" no.. 22/12, 55/12 i 57/13, 44/17 and 82/17) defines elements of credit risk management, minimum 
criteria and manner of classification of assets and off-balance sheet items in respect of which the Bank is exposed to credit 
risk and the manner of determining reserves for potential losses arising from the Bank's credit risk exposure.  
 
In accordance with the aforementioned Decision, the Bank is obligated to assess balance sheet assets and off-balance 
sheet items for impairment at least on a quarterly basis, i.e. to access the probability of loss (for off-balance sheet items), 
as well as to classify these items into corresponding classification groups. In addition, the Bank is under obligation to 
determine a methodology for the assessment of impairment of balance sheet assets and probable losses on off-balance 
sheet items in accordance with IAS 39. 
 
For the purposes of calculating the allowance for impairment of loans receivable, the Bank has prescribed a Procedure for 
determining the allowance for impairment of balance sheet assets and provisions for losses on off-balance sheet items. 
 
Pursuant to the Procedure for determining the allowance for impairment of balance sheet assets and provisions for losses 
on off-balance sheet items, the procedure applied at the initial measurement and recognition of loans and receivables and 
the subsequent measurement are defined, as well as the procedures applied at the measurement and recognition of 
provisions for commitments and the powers and responsibilities in the process. 
 
The procedure defines closely:  
 

 criteria for the identification of receivables for which the estimate of the amount of impairment of balance sheet 
assets and probable losses on off-balance sheet items is performed on an individual basis; 

 procedures to estimate the amount of impairment of balance sheet assets and/or probable losses arising from 
off-balance sheet items, as well as the powers and responsibilities in the process; 

 methods and techniques used for individual and group bases assessment;  
 criteria for classification of receivables into groups with similar characteristics for the purposes of assessing on a 

group basis.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables (Continued) 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance items (Continued) 
 
In addition, the procedure ensures that:  
 

 all analyses, evaluations and other steps in the process of assessing the amount of impairment of balance sheet 
assets and probable losses on off- balance sheet items are correctly explained and documented; 

 the estimate of the amount of impairment of balance sheet assets and probable losses on off-balance sheet items 
is based on accurate and up-to-date information; 

 all significant internal and external factors which may affect the recoverability of receivables are taken into 
consideration.  

 
The Bank reviews receivables and other investments in order to determine impairment allowance and provisions on a 
monthly basis. Information indicating impairment losses include: irregularity and default in liability settlement, local market 
and economic conditions which cause delays in payment, etc. Management's estimates of impairment of receivables and 
other investments using the estimated future cash flows are based on actual historical losses incurred on financial assets 
with similar risk exposure and similar impairment causes. The methodology and assumptions underlying the process of 
defining the amounts and periods of cash inflows from investments are reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to minimize 
the difference between the estimated and actual losses.  
 
When calculating the amount of impairment of balance sheet assets and probable loss on off-balance sheet items the Bank 
takes into consideration the cash flows from the assets collateral. Procedure for collateral management defines the type 
of collateral, the method of determining its value, and the expected period in which cash will be received.  
 
Impairment of loans which decreases the value of loans is recorded in the allowance account in the balance sheet and 
recognized as an expense in the income statement. 
 
In order to provide a reasonable, prudent and timely determination of losses, the Bank identifies the receivables which the 
calculation of allowances for balance sheet assets will be required for: 
 
On an individual basis (individual assessment):   
 

- which do not belong to the group of small receivables (materially significant loans), if it estimates that there is an 
objective evidence of impairment,  

- by which the debtor is a bank or other financial institution, 
- as well as investments in securities that are not listed on the official market (stock exchange) and the securities 

that are held until maturity, regardless of material significance. 
 

On a group basis: 
 

- belonging to the group of small receivables (materially less significant loans),  
- not belonging to the group of small receivables if it is estimated that there is no evidence of impairment, 
- where by the calculation on an individual basis no impairment amount of the balance sheet assets is determined,  
- on the basis of fees from the payment system and other receivables that have no elements for being discounted 

to the present value (discount).  
 
Group of small receivables consists of receivables from those debtors whose total amount of receivables (before deducting 
the allowances for impairment of balance sheet assets) on the calculation date is not greater than EUR 50,000. 
 
Estimates of individually impaired loans and receivables must be based on verifiable and reasonable assumptions, with 
the continuous application of established rules based on procedures established for calculation of losses consistently over 
time, in a systematic way and using realistic reasoning. 
 
The Bank establishes the individual allowance for placements for which impairment has been identified if: 
 

 there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of receivables; 

 objective data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows of balances 
receivable or groups of receivables.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables (Continued) 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance items (Continued)  
 
When there is objective evidence of impairment of the loan, then the amount of impairment is estimated based on expected 
future events as the difference between the carrying value of a loan and the present value of expected future cash flows 
on the loan. The present value of the loan is determined by discounting the expected inflows on the loan using the effective 
interest rate of the specific loan. 
 
Exceptionally, if for a certain receivable the specified period in which future cash flows are expected is less than a year - 
the Bank may determine the amount of impairment of balance sheet assets as the difference between the carrying amount 
and the expected future cash flows on this receivable. 
 
Expected amounts of proceeds of the loan are estimated on the basis of evidence of planned cash flows of the debtor 
(primary sources). Estimation of the number of days of delay of the receivables’ repayment from debtors is conducted by 
reviewing all relevant evidence on the time of realization of planned cash flows of the debtor, as well as previous 
experience. 
 
In the calculation of expected future cash flows on the basis of loans, funds from the realization of collateral (secondary 
sources) are included, if it is estimated that there is no objective evidence that a loan can be settled from the expected 
future cash flows from operations and will realistically be settled from collaterals. Depending on the type of collateral, 
amount and expected timing of collection are defined by the Procedure for collateral management. 
 
In certain cases when there is objective evidence, the total present value of the loan is the sum of the present value of 
expected future cash flows on the loan (primary source) and the present value of expected future cash flows from the 
collateral (secondary source).  
 
The procedure for impairment of balance sheet assets entails: 
 

 classifying loans and receivables to credit rating groups with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk  
 group assessment of impairment  
 defining the percentage of impairment based on the migration of risk categories  
 collection of receivables 
 establishing the basis for the impairment of loans and receivables 
 calculation of depreciation (value adjustments) of loans and receivables.  

 
The first phase of classifying loans into groups is based on their similar characteristics in terms of credit risk according to 
the criteria defined by an internal rating system in the context of the Procedures for internal rating in the following manner: 
 

 The first (I) credit rating group includes sub-groups AAA, AA, A, A- and A- - from the internal rating system; 
 The second (II) credit rating group includes sub-groups BBB, BB, B, B- and B- - from the Internal rating system ; 
 The third  (III) credit rating group includes sub-groups C1, C2 and C3 from the Internal rating system ; 
 The fourth (IV) credit rating group includes sub-groups D from the Internal rating system; 
 The fifth (V) credit rating group includes sub-groups E from the Internal rating system.  

 
In the case of several loan facilities granted to one customer, in the first phase of grouping all loans extended to one client 
are classified into a single credit rating group, except for the receivables with doubtful and disputable legal basis which are 
classified into the first credit rating group.  
 
Subsequently, some facilities of the same client may be classified into the neighbouring credit rating groups with a lower 
credit risk (provided that these differences cannot be substantial), if necessary. 
 
A procedure for establishing credit rating groups is carried out after the segmentation of the portfolios of individuals and 
farmers to materially significant loans and materially less significant loans, according to groups with similar level of credit 
risk by the timeliness in settlement of liabilities to the Bank into groups I to V, as follows: 
   

 The first (I) credit rating group includes sub-groups of up to 30 days in default; 
 The second (II) credit rating group includes sub-groups of 31 to 90 days in default; 
 The third (III) credit rating group includes sub-groups of 91 to 270 days in default; 
 The fourth (IV) credit rating group includes sub-groups of 271 to 365 days in default; 
 The fifth (V) credit rating group includes sub-groups of 365 days in default. 

 
Receivables with a doubtful and dubious basis, as well as receivables which are disputed, are classified into the fifth credit 
rating group.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables (Continued) 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance items (Continued) 
 
Assessment of impairment on a group basis  
 
The assessment of impairment regardless of material significance, shall be determined for each credit rating group 
separately, on a group basis, except for the customers which are individually impaired. 
 
The assessment of impairment of balance sheet assets is performed on a group basis for all receivables for which these 
impairments cannot be directly linked to receivables, but for which based on experience it can be estimated that they exist 
in the loan portfolio. 
 
The assessment of impairment of balance sheet assets at the group level is a joint assessment of the future cash flows of 
individual groups of receivables based on the data on losses from previous periods for receivables with credit risk 
characteristics similar to those in the group, in accordance with the Procedure for determining the allowance for impairment 
of balance sheet assets and reserves for losses on off-balance sheet items. 
 
Probability of default status (PD) is calculated based on migration matrices, as a percentage for each credit rating group, 
which shows the amount of involvement of clients at the beginning of the period in particular prudential group out of default, 
and at the end of the period ended in the category of default, wherein the default category is defined as a risk category 4 
and 5, i.e., advances with a delay of more than 270 days. In our case it is the percentage of migration of each category out 
of the default (A, B, C) in the category of default (category D and E).   
 
PD = Amount of default / total exposure  
 
Appreciating the specifics in operations with customers, migrations for the portfolio of legal entities, banks and 
entrepreneurs are determined, in particular: 
   

 for legal entities, micro clients, banks and enterprises according to the internal rating system criteria, 
 natural entities according to the criterion of delay by type of product.   

 
Migrations of risk categories are determined for the period of a year, each quarter, and are applied during the quarter, 
except for 31 December, when annual migrations are applied for that fiscal year.  
 
If, when calculating migrations of risk categories it is arrived at the percentages which do not have continuity according to 
the risk level (e.g.: percentage of migrations of the 2nd group is higher than the percentage of migrations of the 3rd group, 
etc.), then a higher percentage is applied to the lower group of the internal rating (e.g.: percentage of migrations of the 2nd 
group is applied to the 3rd group, etc.). 
 
The percentages arrived at based on the probability of default status (migration matrices), are adjusted by the percentage 
of collection of IV and V credit rating group, based on which the adjusted percentage of migration, i.e., the group impairment 
percentage is impaired. 
 
When the base for calculation of impairment of loans and receivables is concerned, it is necessary to establish its balance 
sheet exposure (book value), which is covered by collateral and the exposure that is not covered by collateral. Based on 
the obtained collateral for each loan facility a net basis is determined, which is calculated by reducing the total carrying 
value by the amount of collateral adjusted by a collateral factor.  
 
For each type of collateral, the appropriate collateral factor according to the Procedure for collateral management is applied 
and represents the rate of the maximum estimate of the material value of collateral.  
 
For the calculation of the net base the following collaterals are taken into consideration: cash deposits, 
mortgages/fiduciaries, pledges, pledges against securities, pledges against warehouse receipts, guarantees, in 
accordance with the Procedure for collateral management that closely defines the procedure for evaluation of collaterals.  
 
If it is estimated that the use of collateral is not marketable and that its market value has been significantly reduced, 
collateral may be excluded from the calculation of the impairment of loans and receivables, or its value may be reduced 
below the value adjusted by the collateral factor. 
 
The adjusted value of collateral is the value of collateral arrived at by applying the collateral factor to the estimated market 
value of collateral (arrived at as the product of the market value of collateral and collateral factor). 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   (Continued) 
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables (Continued) 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance items (Continued) 
 
Assessment of impairment on a group basis (Continued) 
 
The amount of impairment of balance sheet assets is calculated by applying the determined percentage of impairment to 
the net base for calculating the impairment of balance sheet assets, on each individual placement. 
 
Impairment of balance sheet assets is performed on a monthly basis based on the migration of risk categories for the 
period of one year, as adjusted for the recovery of receivables classified into credit rating group V, which are determined 
quarterly during the fiscal year, and, in case of significantly changed circumstances affecting the future payment of loans, 
even more frequently.  
 
In the case of discovering significantly changed circumstances affecting the future payment of a certain loan, assessment 
and recognition of a loss of the relevant materially significant loans is recognised during the month when the change is 
identified. 
 
Based on the known and calculated parameters for determining losses in the credit, in the last quarter, a month are 
performed automatically by the correction value adjustments to the credit of the moment of determining the new parameters 
at the end of the current quarter.  
 
As of December 31, 2017, the allowance for impairment of the loan amounted to EUR 415 thousand. Out of the above 
mentioned amount, the allowance for impairment of individually rated clients amounts to EUR 77 thousand, while the 
allowance for impairment for the clients rated on a collective basis amounts to EUR 338 thousand.   
 
In 2017 the Bank commenced with the preparations for the transition to IFRS 9 Standard, whose application will start on 
January 1, 2018. A methodology was developed in cooperation with a consultancy firm and a few parallel calculations and 
impact assessments on Bank’s capital were made. 
 
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments Replaces International Accounting Standard - IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. 
 
Compared to IAS 39, IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the classification of financial instruments.  
 
Standard MSFI 9 defines the conditions under which a financial asset can be valued at amortised costs, i.e., there are two 
tests to be completed – a business model test and a characteristics of the given asset model, which has as a result the 
change in the manner of measuring and disclosing many instruments, depending on their purpose and nature. 
 
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9, the Bank classifies financial assets in the following manner:  
 

 at amortised cost  
 at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 
A bank should recognize a financial asset or a financial liability in its balance sheet only when it becomes one of the 
contractual parties to the instrument.  
 
The classification in the above categories is carried out according to the following criteria: 
 

 the way in which financial assets are managed (a business model that reflects the goals that the management 
wants to achieve by holding the given financial resources); and 

 the characteristics of the contracted cash flow of a given financial asset (cash flows may be such that they consist 
only of principal and interest payments on the outstanding principal, but the amount of contracted cash flows may 
vary depending on other factors that do not have interest characteristics, such as market prices, etc. 

 
In the case of a business model that implies that financial assets are held for the purpose of collecting the contracted cash 
flows and if the contractual cash flows constitute inflows from the principal and interest payments, which reflect the time 
value and credit risk associated with the outstanding principal, such financial assets are valued at amortized cost. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   (Continued) 
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables (Continued) 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance items (Continued) 
 
Assessment of impairment on a group basis (Continued) 
 
Financial assets that are equity instruments are also subsequently measured through profit or loss: 
 

 held for trading; 
 derivatives; and  
 Investments in unquoted equity instruments.  

 
Financial assets that are an equity instrument, and for which there is an intention to hold them for a longer period, are 
subsequently measured as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.  
 
In the subsequent assessment of such property, changes in fair values do not affect the result, but equity through other 
comprehensive income.  
 
Impairment testing is carried out only for financial assets that are measured at amortized cost and financial assets that are 
valued at fair value through other comprehensive income.  
 
IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses - A model of expected credit losses, in comparison 
to the incurred losses in accordance with IAS 39.  
 
The expected credit loss model that relates to financial assets valued at amortized cost requires the accounting for the 
expected credit losses and a change in the above mentioned expected loan losses on each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to occur in order 
to recognize a credit loss - impairment. 
 
In case the criteria are fulfilled, i.e. that a significant increase in risk is identified, the expected losses for the period of 12 
months are replaced by the expected losses to the maturity of the asset, i.e. for the whole period of the instrument. 
 
The basic principle of the model of expected credit losses is to present a general model of deterioration or improvement of 
the credit rating of financial instruments.  
 
The amount of expected credit losses (ECL) that is recognized as the cost of the provision depends on the volume of credit 
impairment from initial recognition. There are two grounds for calculation: 
  

 Expected loss for a period of 12 months (Stage 1), which applies to all assets (from initial recognition) until there 
is a significant deterioration in the credit rating, 

 
 The expected loss over the entire duration of the loan (Stages 2 and 3), which is applied when there is a significant 

increase in credit risk on an individual or collective basis. 
 
At each reporting date an assessment is made, whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial 
recognition and whether a financial asset is impaired, for each portfolio, in order to determine the applicable provisioning 
account (for 12 months or for the entire life of the asset). The expected loss was estimated on the basis of an individual or 
collective assessment. 
 
The results of the simulated calculations show that the increase in the level of value adjustments will be in the amount of 
EUR 1,751 thousand. 
 
The above mentioned estimated amount of effects of the first application of IFRS 9 is the result of the calculation of the 
expected credit loss as at 31 December 2017. The Bank does not expect any significant change in the stated amount, after 
the recording, except for possible technical reasons, where in any case no material differences are expected. 
 
Calculation of provision for potential losses 
 
In accordance with the Decision on Minimum Standards for Credit Risk Management in Banks ("Official Gazette of 
Montenegro" no. 22/12, 55/12, 57/13, 44/17 and 82/17), loans and other risk-weighted assets are classified in the following 
categories:  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   (Continued) 
 
3.7. Provisions and Impairment Allowance of Irrecoverable Receivables (Continued) 
 
Calculation of impairment of financial assets and provision for off-balance items (Continued) 
 
Assessment of impairment on a group basis (Continued)  
 

 category A (good assets) - where items are estimated to be fully collected in accordance with the terms of the 
agreement 

 category B (assets with special note) - with subgroups B1 and B2, for items for which there is a low probability 
of loss, but which require special attention, as the potential risk, if not adequately monitored, could lead to 
worsening of collectability 

 category C (substandard assets) - with subgroups C1 and C2 for which there is a high probability of loss, due to 
the clearly identified weaknesses that affect collectability 

 category D (dubious assets) - in which items are classified for which the collection as a whole, taking into 
account the creditworthiness of the borrower, value and quality of collaterals, is highly unlikely 

 category E (loss) - in which items are classified which are fully irrecoverable, or will be collectible in an 
insignificant amount.  

 
Based on the classification for the items of assets and off-balance sheet items, on a monthly basis, the Bank calculates 
provisions for potential losses, by applying the percentages in the following table: 

 
  As of December 31, 2017  As of December 31, 2016

Risk 
 

% 
 

Days
 

% 
  

Days
Category Provisions of delay Provisions of delay

 
A  -  <30  -  <30 
B1  2  31-60  2  31-60 
B2  7  61-90  7  61-90 
C1  20  91-150  20  91-150 
C2  40  151-270  40  151-270 
D  70  271-365  70  271-365 
E  100  >365  100  >365 

 
 
The Bank has developed a system of classification of balance sheet assets within certain classification groups, by which it 
has determined, in addition to the sub-groups defined by the regulations of the CMB,  specific sub-groups within the 
respective sub-groups to which respective percentages of provisions are assigned and based on which provisions are 
initially determined. 
 
The Bank is required to determine the difference between the amount of provisions for potential losses, calculated in 
accordance with the above mentioned table and the sum of amounts of allowance for impairment for the balance sheet 
assets and off-balance sheet items, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Decision that prescribes the method 
of measuring financial assets items using IAS 39. 
 
The positive difference between the amount with the calculated loss provisions and the sum of allowances for impairment 
for balance sheet assets and provisions for the off-balance sheet items represents a deductible item from the Bank's own 
assets. 
 
The positive difference between the calculated provisions for potential losses and the sum of allowances for impairment of 
the balance sheet assets and provisions for the off-balance sheet items, represents the required reserve for estimated 
losses. 
 
The Bank is required, when adopting the annual financial statements, to transfer from the profit from the current year or 
retained earnings, to the account of provisions for estimated losses under the regulatory requirement, the amount 
corresponding to the required reserve for estimated losses.  
 
In the event the Bank is unable to allocate the required reserve for estimated losses against profit in accordance with the 
regulatory requirements in the full amount, the shortfall amount of these reserves is recorded on the shortfall reserve 
account for estimated losses under regulatory requirements.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangible Assets 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Cost represents the price billed by suppliers together with all costs incurred in bringing new fixed assets into functional 
use. 
 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives. The calculation of depreciation begins when the assets are put into use.  
 
  Rate in %
 
Property  

 
3.3 

Computer equipment  20.0 
Furniture and other equipment  15.0 
Air-conditioning  10.0 
Vehicles  15.0 
 
 
Depreciation period begins when the assets are put into use. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in the income statement under other income / (expenses). There were 
no changes in estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment compared to prior year. 
 
 
Intangible assets  
 
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Intangible assets relate with 
software. Amortization is recognized in the income statement by a straight line method over the estimated useful life. 

 
  Rate in %
 
Intangible assets  20.0-30.0 
 
 
There were no changes in estimated useful lives of intangible assets compared to prior year.  
 
3.9. Impairment of tangible and intangible assets  
 
On the balance sheet date, the Bank's management review the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets. If there 
is an indication that an asset is impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the amount 
of impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than the value at which the asset is stated, 
existing value of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.  
 
Loss on impairment of assets is recognized as an expense in the current period and is recorded under other operating 
expenses. If subsequently an impairment loss recognized in previous years does not exist or has decreased, the value of 
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased value at which the asset 
is stated does not exceed the carrying value prior to identification of the loss due to the impairment of assets. 
 
3.10. Provisions  
 
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events when it 
is likely that the Bank will be required to settle the obligation and when the amount of the obligation can be estimated 
reliably. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the outflows required to settle the obligations. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of resources that generate economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations, the provision 
is reversed through the income statement. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
3.11. Employee Benefits  
 
Taxes and Contributions for Social Security of Employees  
 
Pursuant to the regulations effective in Montenegro, the Bank has an obligation to pay contributions to various state social 
security funds for social security of employees. These obligations involve the payment of contributions on behalf of an 
employee, by the employer, in amounts calculated by applying the specific, legally prescribed rates. The Bank is also 
legally obligated to withhold contributions from gross salaries to employees and on their behalf to transfer the withheld 
portions directly to the appropriate government funds. These contributions payable on behalf of the employee and employer 
are charged to expenses in the period in which they arise.  
 
Retirement Benefits or Other Long-Term Employee Benefits  
 
In accordance with the Collective Bargaining Agreement, the Bank is under obligation to pay retirement benefits to an 
employee upon his/her regular retirement in the amount of three net minimum salaries. The right to claim these benefits is 
usually conditioned with the remaining working age until retirement and/or completion of the minimum years of service. 
Expected costs of these benefits are recognized at the start of the employment. The Bank makes provisions based on the 
estimated present value of assets to be used for retirement benefits payable to employees upon fulfilment of the retirement 
criteria. Provisions are calculated by applying projected unit credit method, by discounting of estimated future cash outflow. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they occurred. 
 
These financial statements do not comprise provisions based on actuarial report. Pursuant to the assessment of the Bank's 
management, there are no materially significant effects thereof on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account 
the age structure and number of employees; also there was no staff turnover and other changes.  
 
3.12. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less transaction costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently recorded 
at amortized cost applying the effective interest rate method. The difference between the proceeds (less the transaction 
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the income statement in the period of the borrowings are used by applying 
the effective interest rate method. 
 
3.13.  Financial guarantees  
 
In the normal course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of guarantees, performance guarantees 
and promissory notes. Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value, with the 
proceeds received. Subsequent measurement of the bank's liabilities, for each guarantee is made by the greater amount 
comparing the amortized premium and the best estimate of the cost required to settle the obligation that may arise as a 
result of guaranties. 
 
Any increase in liabilities arising from financial guarantees is transferred to the income statement. The received fee is 
recognized in the income statement on a straight-line method, throughout the life of the guarantee. 
 
3.14. Fair value  
 
Fair value of financial instruments  
 
Determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires the use 
of various valuation techniques. For financial instruments which are not traded often and which have low price 
transparency, fair value is less objective and requires a certain degree of variation in assessing which depends on liquidity, 
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. 
According to the Bank’s management assessment, the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities disclosed 
in the financial statements approximates the fair value on the date of financial statements. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
4.1.  Risk Management 
 
The Bank is exposed to various risks in its operations, of which the most significant are the following:  
 

 credit risk; 
 market risk; 
 liquidity risk; 
 operational risk.  

 
The risk management procedures are designed to identify and analyse risks, to define limits and controls required for risk 
management and to monitor the Bank's exposure to each individual risk. The risk management procedures are subject to 
regular review in order to allow adequate response to the changes in the market, products and services.  
 
Management Department is responsible for monitoring the Bank's exposures to certain risks, which is reported to the Board 
of Directors on a monthly basis. In addition, monitoring of the Bank's exposures to certain risks is the responsibility of Credit 
Risk Management Committee and Asset and Liability Management Committee.  
 
4.2. Credit Risk  
 
The Bank is exposed to credit risk which is a risk that counterparties will be unable to settle liabilities to the bank in full and 
as due. The Bank makes provisions for impairment losses related to the losses incurred as at the statement of financial 
position date. Significant changes in the economy and certain industries comprising the Bank's loan portfolio could result 
in the losses different from losses for which the provisions were made as at the statement of financial position date. Hence, 
the bank's management manages credit risk exposure observing the prudency principle.   
 
The Central Bank of Montenegro adopted the Decision on Minimum Standards for Credit Risk Management in Banks ("Off. 
Gazette of Montenegro", No. 22/12, 55/12, 57/13, 44/17 and 82/17), which was implemented on January 1, 2013, which 
involves the application of International Financial Reporting Standards on measurement and disclosure of balance sheet 
assets items and off-balance sheet items. Pursuant to the foregoing Decision, the Bank has established a methodology for 
assessment of impairment of balance sheet assets and probable losses on off- balance sheet items. Bank methodology 
consistently applied, reviewed at least annually and, if necessary, adjusts the results of the review, and also adapts the 
assumptions on which the methodology is based.  
 
Credit risk mitigation entails maintenance of risk at an acceptable level of the Bank, and maintaining a loan portfolio. Credit 
risk mitigation is carried out through contracting of adequate collateral claims. 
 
4.2.1. Credit Risk Management  
 
The Bank adopted the following documents for credit risk management: 
 

 Credit risk management policy 
 Procedure for credit risk  management of corporate clients 
 Procedure for credit risk  management of retail clients 
 Procedure for placement classification 
 Procedure for determination of allowances for impairment and provisions for losses under off-balance sheet items 
 Procedure for collateral management  
 Procedure on types and techniques for credit risk mitigation  
 Procedure for microfinancing and credit risk management of microloans 
 Procedure for optional risk management.  

 
Credit risk exposure is a risk of a financial loss resulting from the borrower's inability to meet all the contractual obligations 
toward the Bank. The bank manages the risk assumed by setting limits in respect of large loans, single borrowing entities 
and related parties. Such risks are monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
 
Industry loan concentrations are continuously monitored as in accordance with the limits prescribed by the Central Bank 
of Montenegro. 
 
Credit risk exposure is managed by means of regular analyses of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to 
repay the liabilities in terms of principal and interest.  
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued)  
 
4.2.1. Credit Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities  
 
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and 
letters of credit represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot 
meet its obligations to third parties, and therefore carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters 
of credit, which represent written undertakings of the Bank on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw bills of 
exchange on the Bank up to the amount agreed under specific terms are secured by the underlying deliveries of goods 
that they relate to and therefore carry less risk than loans.  
 
4.2.2. Impairment Losses in Accordance with Requirements of IAS 39  
 
As of the statement of financial position date the Bank assesses whether there is any impartial evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets has suffered impairment in accordance with IAS 39.   
 
Exposure is reclassified from healthy to bad loans / exposures, if the Bank estimates that the event adversely affects the 
expected cash flows. The bank shall at least quarterly estimate the asset quality, and determine whether there is an 
evidence of impairment of balance sheet assets, or probable loss in off-balance sheet items. 
  
It is considered that an impartial evidence of impairment exists if:  
 

- debtor's financial condition indicates significant problems in his business operations (downgrade of a debtor),   
- failure to fulfil contractual obligations, the frequent delays in payment of interest / principal and other contractual 

provisions (evidence of failure or delay in payment), 
- Information on the blocking the debtor's account, 
- benefits that the Bank provides to the debtor due to economic or legal reasons (evidence of the approved 

postponed repayment, restructuring receivables and other concessions approved due to financial difficulties in 
the operations of the debtor) 

- substantial difficulties in the business of the debtor (evidence of bankruptcy, liquidation, financial reorganization 
of the debtor, the damage that the debtor has suffered due to force majeure, loss of license, change of 
management, etc.),  

- internal and external factors that may affect the collectability of receivables (evidence of adverse changes in 
business conditions in some industries that reflect on the debtor's solvency, as well as the industry branches, 
evidence of macroeconomic trends: falling demand, falling prices, budget deficit, doing business in times of crisis 
or recession, etc.) 

- Local economic factors causing problems during payments.  
 

If there is an evidence of impairment on exposure, testing has to be performed, and, if necessary, accounting recognition 
of impairment losses of balance sheet assets i.e. probable losses on off-balance sheet items. It has to be done in order to 
financials assets in the Bank's balance sheet be recognized at fair value and to disclose the expected loss due to partial 
or complete lack of collection of receivables. Impairment or a loss due to bad debt exposure, when established, it is not 
possible to collect the receivables in full.  
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued) 
 
4.2.3. Maximum Credit Risk Exposure per Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Items  
 
The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of balance sheet and off balance sheet items:  
 
 In EUR thousand 

 
31 December 

2017  
31 December

2016 
Balance sheet items   
Loans and receivables from banks 2,556  5,156 
Loans and receivables from clients 103,797  75,947 
Available-for-sale securities 5,381  2,601 
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  1,407 

 114,148  85,111
Off balance sheet items   
Financial guarantees 3,883  2,398 
Performance guaranties 4,227  3,873 
Undrawn credit lines 4,305  2,047 

 12,415  8,318
 
Maximum Credit Risk Exposure 126,563  93,429 

 
The credit risk is managed by Credit risk management sector in accordance with adopted Risk management strategy, 
Credit risk management policy, Credit risk management procedure, Procedure for determining the allowances for balance 
sheet assets and reserves for losses on off-balance sheet items, Collateral management procedure as well as governing 
the credit risk management. Credit risk is managed through clearly defined procedures of identification, measurement, 
control and mitigation and monitoring credit risk. For measuring the credit risk, solvency analysis, developed internal 
scoring Bank, classification complied with regulatory requirements, and value adjustments in accordance with IAS and 
IFRS are used. Risk Management sector provides an opinion on credit proposals, verifies the classification of exposure 
and assessment based on an internal scoring, verifies the value adjustment, and provides opinion on the quality of the 
proposed collateral. Risk management sector reports the Board of Directors, at least once a month for the past month or 
quarter, of all the relevant indicators relating to the credit risk management on the level of exposure and on the level of the 
portfolio.  
 
Exposure to credit risk is partly overseen by obtaining the collaterals and guarantees from legal entities and individuals. In 
addition, all individuals are required to receive their salaries through the current account with the Bank, in order to reduce 
credit risk.   
 
Types of collaterals are as follows:  
 

 deposits; 
 pledge liens instituted over industrial machinery, securities, inventories and vehicles; 
 mortgages assigned over property and fiduciary transfer of ownership; 
 bills of exchange; 
 collection authorizations; 
 garnishments and injunctions; 
 guarantors, and 
 insurance policies. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued) 
 
4.2.4.  Quality of Financial Placements 
 
The quality of financial placements exposed to credit risk is as follows:  
 

     In EUR thousand

 

Neither 
impaired nor 

past due  

Not 
impaired 
but past 

due
Individually 

assessed
Assessed 

in group
Total, 
gross  

Total 
allowance

Total, 
net

 
Housing loans 37  - 69 9,864 9,970  10 9,960
Customer loans 1,008  (1) 1,019 25,500 27,528  138 27,390
Microcredits -  - 111 2,175 2,286  169 2,117
Overdrafts on the bank 

accounts -  2 - 109 111  1 110
Credit cards 110  2 2 221 336  7 329
Loans to medium and 

small private 
enterprises 62,183  335 218 165 62,901  138 62,763

Loans to state-owned 
enterprises 1,124  4 - - 1,128  - 1,128

Loans and receivables 
from banks 2,556  - - - 2,556  - 2,556

Off-balance sheet 
assets 12,415  - - - 12,415  2 12,413

 
December 31, 2017 79,433  345 1,419 38,034 119,231  463 118,766
 
Housing loans -  - - 6,977 6,977  2 6,975
Customer loans -  - 33 18,478 18,511  23 18,488
Microcredits -  - - 2,309 2,309  32 2,277
Overdrafts on the bank 

accounts -  - - 304 304  - 304
Credit cards 48  6 132 186  - 186
Loans to medium and 

small private 
enterprises 45,903  575 18 47 46,543  57 46,487

Loans to state-owned 
enterprises 1,381  35 - - 1,416  - 1,416

Loans and receivables 
from banks 5,156  - - - 5156  - 5,156

Off-balance sheet 
assets 8,317  - - - 8,317  - 8,317

 
December 31, 2016  60,805  616 51 28,247 89,721  114 89,606

 
 
The amount of gross loans specified in the table is reduced by the amount of deferrals. 
 
As of December 31, 2017, non-impaired past due financial assets include placements without delay in payment. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued) 
 
4.2.4. Quality of Financial Placements (Continued) 
 
a) Loans and placements past-due but not individually impaired 
 

     In EUR thousand

 

Up to 30 
days past-

due  

From 31 
to 60 

days past 
due

From 61 
to 90 

days past 
due

From 91 
to 180 

days past 
due

From 181 
to 365 

days past 
due  

From 1 to 5 
years past 

due

Over 5 
years pas 

due
Matured portion past due     
Housing loans 7  - - - -  - -
Customer loans 62  23 6 11 5  11 -
Microcredits 17  - - - -  - -
Overdrafts on the bank 

accounts 32  16 7 9 38  14 -
Credit cards 32  - 3 - -  - -
Loans to medium and small 

private enterprises 341  19 186 9 18  16 -
Loans to state-owned 

enterprises 37  - - - -  - -
December 31, 2017 528  58 202 29 61  41 -
 
December 31, 2016  646  84 25 52 6  25 -
 
Total balance of debt past 

due     
Housing loans 1.531  - - - -  - -
Customer loans 4.442  287 74 50 33  22 -
Overdrafts on the bank 17  - - - -  - -
Microcredits 620  110 55 56 75  21 -
Credit cards 384  - 10 - 2  - -
Loans to medium and small 

private enterprises 15.675  534 542 36 39  16 -
Loans to state-owned 

enterprises 503  - - - -  - -
 
December 31, 2017 23.172  931 681 142 149  59 -

 
 
b) Fair Value of Collaterals up to the amount of loans secured by these assets 
 
 
 In EUR thousand 

 
31 December 

2017  
31 December

2016  
 
Cash deposits 4,225  4,045 
Pledge liens 964  4,615 
Mortgages 73,338  47,533 
 
Total 78,527  56,193 
 
 
Property used as collateral is residential premises, houses and apartment buildings, commercial buildings and business 
premises, as well as land depending on its location and future use. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued) 
 
4.2.4. Quality of Financial Placements (Continued) 

 
c) Restructured Loans and Receivables  
 
The Bank can restructure a loan due to the deterioration in the borrower's creditworthiness if it has: 

 
a. extended the principal or interest maturity, 
b. decreased the interest rate on the loan approved, 
c. decreased the debt amount, principal or interest, or 
d. made other concessions to facilitate the borrower's financial position. 

 
Upon restructuring of the loan, the Bank performs financial analysis of the borrower and assesses its capacities to realize 
cash flows necessary for the repayment of the loan principal, as well as the corresponding interest once the loan is 
restructured. At the end of 2017 the Bank had EUR 2.070 thousand of restructured loans (2016: EUR 997 thousand). 
 
d)  Concentration per Geographic Regions  
 
Concentration per geographic regions of the Bank's credit risk exposure is presented in the following table:  
 

     In EUR thousand

 
Monteneg

ro  Serbia
Bosnia 

and Herz. Croatia EU  USA Total
     
 
Loans and receivables from 

banks 10  - 875 184 1,422  65 2,556
Loans and receivables from 

clients 100,104  138 - 53 3,502  - 103,797
Available for sale securities 5,487  - - - -  - 5,487
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  - - - -  - 2,414
Off-balance sheet assets 12,415  - - - -  - 12,415
 
December 31, 2017 120,430  138 875 237 4,924  65 126,669
Loans and receivables from 

banks 10  - - - 5,070  76 5,156
Loans and receivables from 

clients 74,456  29 8 - 1,354  100 75,947
Held-to-maturity securities 2,601  - - - -  - 2,601
Off-balance sheet assets 1,407  - - - -  - 1,407
Loans and receivables from 

banks 8,318  - - - -  - 8,318
 
December 31, 2016 86,792  29 8 - 6,424  176 93,429

 
 
The Bank measures the exposure to country risk for all countries in which the head office or residence of the Bank’s debtors 
is. The Bank’s exposure to country risk is measured based on individual placement, defined in the document which implies 
the control of the debtor’s country rating, taking into account the political, economic and social conditions in the country of 
the debtor.  

 
Ranking of debtor`s countries serves the Bank for determining the required capital for country risk and for limiting the 
bank`s exposure to certain debtor`s countries, groups of countries or regions. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued) 
 
4.2.4. Quality of Financial Placements (Continued) 
 
e) Concentration per Industry  
 
Concentration per industry of the Bank`s credit risk exposure is presented in the following table:  
 

     In EUR thousand 

 
Finance 

Sector  

Transport, 
traffic and 
communi-

cations

Services, 
tourism and 

hotel 
management

Retail 
trade

Construction 
industry  

Admini-
stration Real estate Other

Private 
individuals Total 

 
Loans and receivables 

from banks 2,556   - - - -  - - - - 2,556 
Loans and receivables 

from clients 447  5,295 13,692 17,935 9,505  59 3,199 13,933 39,732 103,797 
Available for sale 

securities 5,487   - - - -  - - - - 5,487 
Held-to-maturity 

securities 2,414   - - - -  - - - - 2,414 
Off-balance sheet items 63  2,273 115 2,864 4,385  - 356 1,893 466 12,415 
 
December 31, 2017 10,967  7,568 13,807 20,799 13,890  59 3,555 15,826 40,198 126,669 
Loans and receivables 

from banks 5,156   - - - -  - - - - 5,156 
Loans and receivables 

from clients 29  3,462 8,497 14,262 8,730  124 62 12,602 28,179 75,947 
Available for sale 

securities  2,601  - - - -  - - - - 2,601 
Held-to-maturity 

securities 1,407  - - - -  - - - - 1,407 
Off-balance sheet items 126  753 191 1,383 3,948  - - 1,336 581 8,318 
 
December 31, 2016 9,319  4,215 8,688 15,645 12,678  124 62 13,938 28,760 93,429 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.2. Credit Risk (Continued)  
 
4.2.5. Off-Balance Sheet Items  
 
Maturities of off-balance sheet items exposing the Bank to credit risk were as follows:  
 
 In EUR thousand 

 
Undrawn credit 

lines Guarantees  Total 
 
Up to one year 3,270 6,972  10,242 
From 1 to 5 years 1,035 1,138  2,173 
 
December 31, 2017 4,305 8,110  12,415 
 
December 31, 2016  2,047 6,271  8,318 
 
 
4.3. Market Risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions due to changes in interest rates and foreign 
currency exchange rates. Limits for the exposure to market risks are internally prescribed, and in compliance with the 
prescribed limits by the Central Bank of Montenegro. The Bank has adopted the Policy for foreign currency risk 
management, Policy for interest rate risk management and the Procedure for market risks management. 
 
4.3.1. Currency Risk  
 
Currency risk management is defined with Risk management strategy and Currency management policy. In These acts 
define the way in which the bank identifies, measures, controls, mitigates and monitors the currency risk. Measuring the 
currency risk is performed applying GAP analysis for currency risk, while the control system established by limiting long, 
short and net positions individually by currencies and aggregately. On a daily basis liquidity sector reports to the risk 
management the amount and character of currency update. Risk Management sector reports on a monthly basis the Board 
of Directors on all important aspects of the management of foreign exchange risk. 
 

Financial position and cash flows of the Bank are exposed to the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The exposure to 
the foreign currency risk is monitored regularly through complying with limits prescribed by the Central Bank of Montenegro.  
 
  



LOVĆEN BANKA AD, PODGORICA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 
 
 

23 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
4.3.1. Currency Risk (Continued)  
 
The Bank's exposure to foreign currency risk is presented in the following table: 
 

In thousands of EUR
 RSD USD GBP CHF  Other Total
 
Assets in foreign currencies - 855 152 362  - 1,369
Liabilities in foreign currencies - 893 101 237  - 1,231
Net open position: - (38) 51 125   138
 - December 31, 2017    
 
 - December 31, 2016 - 385 41 144  - 570
% of the core capital:    
 - December 31, 2017 - (0.37%) 0.50% 1.23%  - 
 
 - December 31, 2016 - 5.00% 1.00% 2.00%  - -
Aggregate open position:     
 - December 31, 2017 138    
 - December 31, 2016 570    
 
% of the core capital:    
 - December 31, 2017 1.36%    
 - December 31, 2016 7.78%    
 
 
Management of currency risk exposure, apart from analysis of Bank's assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, includes a sensitivity analysis on the exchange rate change. The scenario of the fluctuation in exchange rate 
in the range of + 10% to -10% compared to the EUR is presented in the following table.  
 
 In EUR thousand 
 Change in exchange rate

 Total 

Amount in 
foreign 

currency 10%  -10% 
 
Assets   
Cash balances and deposits with central banks 19,800 1,927 193  (193) 
Loans and receivables from banks 2,556 607  61  (61) 
Available-for-sale securities 5,487  -  -  - 
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  -  -  - 
 
Total assets 30,257 2,534 254  (254) 
 
Liabilities   
Deposits due to clients and banks 99,276 1,034 10  (10) 
Borrowings from other clients 22,735  -  -  - 
 
Total liabilities 122,011 1,034 10  (10) 
 
Net currency risk exposure:     
  -  December 31, 2017 264  (264)
 
  -  December 31, 2016 57  (57) 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
4.3.1. Currency Risk (Continued)  
 
As of December 31, 2017, under the assumption that all other parameters remain the same upon the change in the EUR 
exchange rate, as compared to other currencies, by +10%, i.e., -10%, the Bank's profit would decrease, i.e., increase by 
EUR 264 thousand (December 31, 2016: EUR 57 thousand). The reason why the Bank's exposure to currency risk is small 
is rooted in the fact that the major portion of the Bank's assets and liabilities is denominated in EUR.  
 
4.3.2. Interest Rate Risk  
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Bank assumes exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest 
rates on cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes; however, these may reduce profit or give 
rise to losses in instances of unexpected fluctuations. Interest rates are based on market rates and the Bank performs 
regular repricing.  
 
The following table presents the Bank's interest bearing and non-interest bearing assets and liabilities as of 31 December 
2017: 
 
 In EUR thousand 

 Interest bearing 
Non-interest 

bearing  Total 
 
ASSETS   
Cash balances and deposits with central banks 3,673 16,128  19,801 
Loans and receivables from banks 76 2,481  2,556 
Loans and receivables from clients 103,797 -  103,797 
Available-for-sale securities 5,487  -  5,487 
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  -  2,414 
 
Total assets 115,447 18,609  134,055 
 
LIABILITIES   
Deposits due to clients and banks 80,871 17,206  98,077 
Borrowings from other clients 22,693 -  22,693 
 
Total liabilities 103,564 17,206  120,770 
Interest rate risk exposure:   
  -  December 31, 2017 11,883 1,403  13,285
 
  -  December 31, 2016 (13,735) 16,969  3,234 
 
 
In the process of interest rate risk management, the Bank analyses the exposure of Bank's assets and liabilities to changes 
in interest rates. The following table shows the effect of fluctuations in interest rates on the Bank's assets and liabilities 
denominated in EUR and foreign currency in the range from +0.4 b.p. to - 0.4 b.p. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.3. Market Risk (Continued)  
 
4.3.2. Interest Rate Risk (Continued)  
 
 In EUR thousand 
 Net effect of movements in interest rates 

    +0,4 b.p.    -0,4 b.p.
 2017 EUR KS   EUR KS
Assets   
Cash and deposits with central banks 19,801 -  - 
Loans and receivables from banks 2,556 -  - 
Loans and receivables from clients 103,797 -  - 
Available-for-sale securities 5,487  -  - 
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  -  - 

 134,055 -  -
 
Liabilities   
Deposits to clients 80,871 -  - 
Borrowings from other clients 22,693 -  - 

 103,563 -  -
Net exposure to interest rate risk:   
 - December 31, 2017 -  -
 
 
The Bank is not exposed to interest rate fluctuations since all Bank's liabilities and receivables are linked to a fixed interest 
rate. 
 
 
4.4. Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity risk includes the risk of the Bank being unable to provide cash to settle liabilities upon maturity, or the risk that the 
Bank will have to obtain funds at reasonable prices and in a timely manner to be able to settle its matured liabilities. 
 
The matching and controlled mismatching between the maturities and interest rates of assets and of liabilities are 
fundamental to the management of the Bank. It is uncommon for banks to have completed matching since business 
transactions are often made for indefinite term and are of different types. A mismatched position potentially enhances 
profitability, but also increases the risk of losses. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability of the Bank to obtain sources of funding upon maturity of liabilities at 
an acceptable cost are an important factor in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to changes in interest 
rates and foreign exchange rates. 
 
Liquidity requirements to support calls on guarantees are considerably less than the amount of the commitments because 
the Bank does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding contractual 
amount of commitments for approved loans with extended maturities does not necessarily represent future cash 
requirements since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded.  
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.4.  Liquidity Risk (Continued)  
 
As of December 31, 2017, the Bank has managed the liquidity risk in accordance with the adopted Strategy for risk 
management and Liquidity risk management policy. The phases of the liquidity risk management have been elaborated in 
these documents: identification, measurement, control and monitoring of liquidity risk. To measure liquidity risk, the Bank 
uses the GAP analysis and stress testing. On the basis of Risk management procedure developed was the methodology 
for determining the difference between the actual and the contracted deposit maturity on which the Bank classifies demand 
deposits in the individual time classes. Liquidity risk monitoring is developed on a daily basis through a set of reports 
generated by the liquidity sector, and verified by the risk management sector. In addition to daily monitoring, liquidity risk 
is monitored on a ten-day and monthly basis by reporting to Supervisors and to the Board of Directors. Cash-flow 
projections are subsequently tested on a daily and monthly basis. 
 
The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources which influence the available cash held on the current 
accounts or as deposits. The Bank does not have to maintain the cash resources level in order to meet all potential 
requirements, estimating that the minimum level of reinvestments of maturing funds can be reliably predicted.  
 
The remaining contractual maturity matching of financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 is as follows: 
 

In EUR thousand

 
Up to a 
month  

From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 to 
6 months

From 6 to 
12 months

From 1 to 
5 years  

Over 5 
years Total

 
Financial assets     
Cash balances and deposits with 

central banks 19,801  - - - -  - 19,801
Loans and receivables from 

banks 2,556  - - - -  - 2,556
Loans and receivables from 

clients 1,450  4,077 9,000 16,673 48,837  23,760 103,797
Available-for-sale securities 5,487  - - - -  - 5,487
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  - - - -  - 2,414
 
Total 31,708  4,077 9,000 16,673 48,837  23,760 134,055
 
Financial liabilities     
Deposits to clients and banks 30,435  9,155 8,981 24,410 25,969  324 99,274
Borrowings from banks and other 

clients 806  375 1,854 3,304 13,205  3,205 22,749
Other financial liabilities 1,067  - - - -  - 1,067
Total 32,308  9,530 10,835 27,714 39,174  3,529 123,090
 
Maturity GAP     
 - December 31, 2017 (600)  (5,453) (1,835) (11,041) 9,663  20,231 10,965
  
- December 31, 2016  11,694  (6,471) (7,354) (16,375) (7,667)  33,020 6,847
 
Cumulative GAP:     
 - December 31, 2017 (600)  (6,053) (7,888) (18,929) (9,266)  10,965
  
- December 31, 2016  11,694  5,223 (2,131) (18,506) (26,173)  6,847
 
% of the total asset source     
 - December 31, 2017 -0.49%  -4.92% -6.41% -15.38% -7.53%  8.90%
  
- December 31, 2016  10.60%  4,.73% -1.93% -16.77% -23.72%  6.20%
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 

4.4. Liquidity Risk (Continued)  
 
The expected maturity matching of financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 is as follows: 
 

In EUR thousand

 
Up to a 
month  

From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 
to 6 

months

From 6 
to 12 

months
From 1 to 

5 years  
Over 5 
years Total

 
Financial assets     
Cash balances and deposits with 

central banks 19,801  - - - -  - 19,801
Loans and receivables from 

banks 2,556  - - - -  - 2,556
Loans and receivables from 

clients 1,450  4,077 9,000 16,673 48,837  23,760 103,797
Available-for-sale securities 5,487  - - - -  - 5,487
Held-to-maturity securities 2,414  - - - -  - 2,414
Total  31,708  4,077 9,000 16,673 48,837  23,760 134,055
 
Financial liabilities     
Deposits to clients and banks 7,376  12,418 12,053 28,121 28,187  11,119 99,274
Borrowings from banks and other 

clients 806  375 1,854 3,304 13,205  3,205 22,749
Other financial liabilities 1,067  - - - -  - 1,067
 
Total 9,249  12,793 13,907 31,425 41,392  14,324 123,090
 
Maturity GAP     
 - December 31, 2017 22,459  (8,716) (4,907) (14,752) 7,445  9,436 10,965
  
- December 31, 2016  34,312  (9,739) (10,548) (20,013) (9,768)  22,603 6,847
 
Cumulative GAP:     
 - December 31, 2017 22,459  13,743 8,836 (5,916) 1,529  10,965
  
- December 31, 2016  34,312  24,573 14,025 (5,988) (15,756)  6,847
 
% of the total asset source     
 - December 31, 2017 18.25%  11.17% 7.18% (4.81%) 1.24%  8.90%
  
- December 31, 2016  31.10%  22.27% 12.71% 5.43% 14.28%  6.21%

 
 
As pursuant to the Procedure of risk management, the Bank has developed a methodology for determining the difference 
between the actual and contractual maturities of deposits, demand deposits are sorted in the individual time classes, and 
therefore the agreed maturity differs from the expected as indicated in the table above. The Bank's liquidity as its ability to 
settle its due liabilities depends upon the balance sheet structure, and on the other side upon the matching between cash 
inflows and outflows. The structure of financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 indicates the existence of 
gap in the period of maturity of assets and liabilities from one month to five years. In 2017, the Bank did not have issues 
regarding the liquidity maintenance. As of December 31, 2017, its liquidity ratio was je 2.13%.  
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)  
 
4.5.  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities  
 
As of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Bank had no financial assets initially classified at fair value.  
 

In EUR thousand 
 Carrying Value Fair Value

 2017 2016 2017  2016
Financial assets    
Loans and receivables from banks  2,556 5,156 2,556  5,156 
Loans and receivables from clients 103,797 75,947 103,797  75,947 
Securities available for sale 5,487  2,601  5,487  2,601 
Securities held to maturity 2,414  1,407  2,414  1,407 
 
Financial liabilities    
Deposits to clients 99,276 83,939 99,276  83,939 
Borrowings from other clients 22,747 25,993 22,747  25,993 
Other liabilities 1,067 377 1,067  377 
 
 
Fair value is the amount that would be collected for sale of assets, i.e. paid for the settlement of the liabilities in a regular 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under the given market conditions. However, there are 
no available market price for a certain part of the Bank's financial instruments. In conditions in which there is no available 
market price, fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow model or other models. Changes in assumptions underlying 
the estimates, including discount rates and estimated future cash flows, significantly affect the estimates. Therefore, 
determined estimates of fair market value cannot be realized in a current sale of the financial instrument.  
 
4.5.1 Fair Value of Financial Instruments Measured at Fair value  
 
Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value  
 
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are 
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, unobservable 
inputs reflect the Bank's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:   

 
 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed 

equity securities. The Bank does not have financial instruments measured at fair value included within Level 1.   
 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset or a liability, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, as derived from prices). The Bank does not have financial 
instruments measured at fair value included within Level 2.   

 

 Level 3 - Inputs for an asset or a liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
This level includes equity investments with Bank's market assumption (no observable market data available). The 
Bank does not have financial instruments measured at fair value included within Level 3. 

 
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and observable 
market prices in its valuations where possible.  
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.5. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)  
 
4.5.2 Fair Value of Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value    
 
Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments not measured at fair value  
 
Estimated fair value of financial instruments based on fair value hierarchy is given as follows:  
 

In EUR thousand 

December 31, 2017  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total   
Carrying 
Amount 

 
Cash and balances with central 
banks  - 19,801 - 19,801  19,801 
Loans and receivables to banks  - - 2,556 2,556  2,556 
Loans and receivables to customers  - - 103,797 103,797  103,797 
Securities available for sale  - - - -  - 
Securities held to maturity  - 2,414 - 2,414  2,414 
 
Total assets   - 22,215 106,353 128,568  128,568 
 
Deposits due to banks  - - - -  - 
Deposits due to clients   - - 99,276 99,276  99,276 
Borrowings from other clients  22,747 22,747  22,747 
 
Total liabilities  - - 122,023 122,023  122,023 
 

In EUR thousand

December 31, 2016   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total   
Carrying 
Amount 

 
Cash balances and deposits with 

central banks  - 32,063 - 32,063  32,063
Loans and receivables to banks  - - 5,156 5,156  5,156
Loans and receivables to customers  - - 75,947 75,947  75,947
Securities available for sale  - 2,601 - 2,601  2,601
Securities held to maturity  - 1,407 - 1,407  1,407
 
Total assets   - 36,071 81,103 117,174  117,174
 
Deposits due to banks    - - - -  - 
Deposits due to clients   - - 83,939 83,939  83,939
Borrowings from other clients  - - 25,993 25,993  25,993
 
Total liabilities  - - 109,932 109,932  109,932
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.5. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)  
 
4.5.2. Fair Value of Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value (Continued)  
 
For financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value, fair values are calculated only for disclosure purposes, and 
do not impact the statement of financial positions or income statement. In addition, since the instruments generally do not 
trade, there are significant management judgments required to determine their fair values.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the 
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. However, no readily available market 
prices exist for a certain portion of the Bank's financial instruments, and those were accordingly classified into Level 2 and 
Level 3 based on fair value hierarchy. In this circumstances where the quoted market prices are not readily available, the 
fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow models or other pricing models as appropriate. Changes in underlying 
assumptions, including discount rates and estimated future cash flows, significantly affects the estimates. Therefore, the 
calculated fair market estimates cannot be realized in a current sale of the financial instrument. 
 
In estimating the fair value of the Bank's financial instruments not measured at fair value and classified into Level 2 and 
Level 3, the following assumptions were used:  
 
a) Loans and receivables from banks 
 
Loans and receivables from other banks include inter-bank placements and line items in the course of collection.  
 
Fair value of the placements and overnight deposits approximates their carrying amount at the statement of financial 
position date. 
 
b) Loans and receivables from clients 
 
In order to determine the fair value of loans and receivables from clients with fixed interest rate. measured at amortized 
cost, the Bank compared the its interest rates on loans and receivables to clients to the available information on the current 
market interest rates in the banking sector of Montenegro, i.e. weighted average market rates by business activities.   
 
As the Bank's management states, the Bank's interest rates do not differ significantly from prevailing market interest rates 
in the banking sector of Montenegro, which means that the fair value of loans to clients calculated as the present value of 
future cash flows, discounted using the current market rates, i.e. the average weighted interest rates of the banking sector, 
does not deviate significantly from the carrying value of the loan as at the statement of financial position preparation date.  
 
c) Deposits and borrowings  
 
For demand deposits and deposits with a remaining maturity of less than one year, it is assumed that the estimated fair 
value is does not significantly differ from their carrying values.  
 
The estimated fair values of interest bearing deposits at fixed interest rates with remaining contractual maturities of over a 
year, without quoted market prices, are based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar 
remaining maturities. According to the Bank's management, the Bank's interest rates are harmonized with the current 
market rates and the amounts stated in the financial statements represent the fair value which accurately reflects the fair 
value of these financial instruments, under the current circumstances.   
 
The carrying values of borrowings with floating interest rates approximate their fair values at the statement of financial 
position date. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
4.6. Capital Risk Management  
 
The Bank's capital management objectives are:  
 

 to comply with the capital requirements set by the regulator, 
 to safeguard the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns to 

shareholders and ensure benefits for other stakeholders; and  
 To maintain a strong capital base to support further growth of its business. 

 
The Bank's management controls capital adequacy by applying the methodology and limits prescribed by the Central Bank 
of Montenegro ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", no. 60/08, 41/09 and 55/12). In accordance with the regulations, the Bank 
submits quarterly reports on the balance and structure of capital to the Central Bank of Montenegro.  
 
The Bank's own assets are comprised of: tier 1 capital (paid-in share capital, retained earnings from prior years, decreased 
for current year losses) decreased for intangible assets, positive difference between the amount of calculated provisions 
for potential losses and the sum of impairment allowances per balance sheet assets and provisions for potential losses per 
off-balance sheet items.  
 
The amount of own funds must be equal to or greater than:  

a)  minimum financial portion of initial capital amounting to EUR 5 million, as required by Law on Banks, 
b)  total amount of required capital for all risks.  

 
In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank of Montenegro, the Bank is under obligation to maintain a 
minimum capital adequacy ratio of 10%. The Bank is required to maintain certain minimum or maximum ratios with respect 
to its activities and composition of risk assets in compliance with the Law on Banks of the Montenegro and with the Central 
Bank of Montenegro Regulations. The Bank's solvency ratio amounted to 12.55% as of December 31, 2017, calculated on 
statutory financial statements.  
 
 
5. INTEREST INCOME, INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR INCOME AND EXPENSE 
  
a) Interest Income and Similar Income  
 
 In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016
Loans to:   
- state-owned companies 100  130 
- privately-owned companies 4,015  2,908 
- entrepreneurs 63  51 
- natural entities 3,166  2,397 

 7,344  5,486
Securities:   
Securities available for sale 96  8 
Securities held to maturity 81  27 

 177  35
 
Impairment losses on interest receivables (38)  (8) 
 
 7,483  5,513 
 
b) Interest Expense and Similar Expenses  
 
 In thousands of EUR 
Deposits to:  2017  2016

- companies 
 

317  262 
- natural persons  1,835  1,120 

 2,152  1,382
 
Loans and other borrowings  740  670 

 2,892  2,052
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6. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 
 
 In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016
Change in impairment in respect of:   
- loans 305  92 
- other assets -  - 
 
 305  92 
 
Changes in impairment items  
 

 
Loans 

(Note 15) 
Interest 

(Note 15)   
Other 

assets 

Balance as at January 1, 2017 114 11  - 
Allowance for impairment and provisions for the year 307 38  - 
Cancellation of the impairment (4) -  - 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2017 417 48  - 
 
 
7. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE 
 
a) Fee and Commission Income  
 
 In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016

 Loan origination fees 554 491 
Fees and commissions from off-balance-sheet operations 125  119 
Fees and commissions from payment transactions and e-banking 460  351 
Fees and commissions for foreign payments 289  374 
Fees for card operations 243  175 
Fees for credit bureau inquiries 14  16 
Other fees and commissions 47  43 
 
 1,732  1,569 
 
 
b) Fee and Commission Expenses  
 
 In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016
Fees and commissions payable to the Central Bank 189  143 
Fees and commissions for international payment transactions 70  66 
Deposit insurance premium fees 428  244 
Fees and commissions for e-banking 103  79 
Fees for card operations 248  226 
Fees and commissions for the credit line 55  36 
Other fees -  4 
 
 1,093  798 
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8. PERSONNEL EXPENSES  
 
 In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016
Net salaries 1,320  1,289 
Taxes, surtaxes and contributions on salaries 932  922 
Fees to members of Board of Directors (net) 11  7 
Other employee benefits, net  40  39 
Service contracts (gross) 7  11 
Fees to members of Board of Directors (gross) 208  138 
Business travel costs and per diems 29  23 
Employee training costs 5  6 
 
 2,552  2,435 
 
 
On October 14, 2016 (pursuant to the Decision no. 4-0009270/024 issued by the Central Business Entities Register) 
Lovćen banka registered Aleksandra Popović as the Chairperson of the Board of Directors on a professional basis. Ms 
Popović entered into a Contract on Professional Engagement of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors with Lovćen 
banka AD (October 7, 2016 and July 18, 2018) and receives the remuneration of EUR 5,300 in accordance with the 
Decision No. 01-IX-v/4 issued by the General Meeting on October 7, 2016 and Decision No. 01-III/7 dated May 30, 2017. 
 
 
9. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  
 
 In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016
Rental costs 463  416 
External services expenses 144  116 
Cash security and transportation costs 260  213 
Advertising and marketing 113  115 
License costs and software maintenance 136  136 
Consultancy services 11  1 
Other professional fees 71  38 
Electricity, utilities and fuel costs 39  30 
Office supplies 26  24 
Communication network costs 41  30 
Computer and other equipment maintenance 62  41 
Telecommunication costs 26  19 
Membership fee to the Association of banks 18  16 
Insurance costs 26  22 
The cost of plastic and card personalization 13  10 
Entertainment 10  10 
Cleaning 22  18 
Miscellaneous expenses 39  51 
 
 1,520  1,306 
 
 
10. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION  
 

In thousands of EUR
 2017  2016
 
Property and equipment (Note 17) 242  194 
Intangible assets (Note 18) 143  131 
 
 385  325 
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11. OTHER EXPENSES 
 

In thousands of EUR 
 
Disposal of software -  - 
Disposal of equipment 1  - 
Other expenses 13  11 
 

 14  11 
 
 
12. INCOME TAXES  
 
a) Components of Income Tax 
 

In thousands of EUR
2017  2016

 
Deferred income taxes  (8)  2 
 

 (8)  2 
 
 

In thousands of EUR
 2017  2016
 
Profit before tax  479  201 
Income tax at Law rate of 9%  51  18 
 
The effects of the different treatment of tangible assets for tax purposes (8)  2 
Income tax in income statement  43  2
 
Effective tax rate  8.97%  0.99% 
 
 
The tax rate used in 2017 and 2016 equals 9% and is applied to the taxable profit of legal entities in Montenegro in 
accordance with the Corporate Income Tax Law. 
 
b) Deferred tax  
 
 In thousands of EUR 

 Tax asset Tax liability  
Net asset/ 

(liability) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2013  11 (3)    8  
Deferred tax liability based on temporary differences between 

accounting and tax values of property, equipment and 
intangible assets - (13)  (13) 

Balance as of December 31, 2014  11  (16)    (5)  
 
Deferred tax liability based on temporary differences between 

accounting and tax values of property, equipment and 
intangible assets                -   (14)    (14)  

Balance as of December 31, 2015 11  (30)    (19)  
 
Deferred tax liability based on temporary differences between 

accounting and tax values of property, equipment and 
intangible assets (2)    (2)  

 
Balance as of December 31, 2016  11  (32)    (21)  
 

Deferred tax liability based on temporary differences between 
accounting and tax values of property, equipment and 
intangible assets 8    8  

Balance as of December 31, 2017 11  (24)    (13)  
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued) 
 
b) Deferred tax (Continued) 
 
Recognized differed tax assets arisen from tax loss from 2012 in the amount of EUR 129 thousand and may be utilized 
until 2017. Deferred tax assets arising from losses from 2014 and 2015 were not recognized.  
 
 
13. CASH BALANCES AND DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANKS 
 
 In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
Cash on hand:   
- in EUR 2,074  1,610 
- in foreign currencies 389  847 
Gyro account:   
- in EUR 10,127  23,872 
Obligatory reserves held with the Central Bank of Montenegro 7,211  5,734 
 
 19,801  32,063 
 
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank's obligatory reserves were set aside in accordance with the Decision of the Central 
Bank of Montenegro on Obligatory Reserves of Banks to Be Held with the Central Bank of Montenegro (“Official Gazette 
of Montenegro”, no. 35/11, 22/12, 61/12, 57/13, 52/14, 07/15 and 88/17), stipulating that banks calculate the obligatory 
reserve applying the following rates:  
 

- 7.5% to the base comprised of demand deposits and deposits maturing within a year i.e. 365 days, and term deposits 
with maturity over 365 days if there is no clause on the impossibility of cancellation of the contract before the set 
deadline,   

- 6.5% to the base comprised of deposits with maturities of over a year i.e. 365 days, containing clause on the 
impossibility of cancellation of the contract before the set deadline  

 
The rate of 7.5% is also applied to deposits with contractually defined maturities of over a year i.e. 365 days with contractual 
clause on early withdrawal option. 
 
The obligatory reserve is to be calculated by applying the aforesaid rates to the average amount of deposits during the 
previous week two days before the expiry of the maintenance period.  
 
The Bank sets aside the calculated reserves to the obligatory reserve accounts held with the Central Bank of Montenegro 
in the country and/or abroad. Pursuant to the Decision, 50% of the obligatory reserve is interest bearing. The Central Bank 
pays a fee calculated at an annual rate equal to EONIA (Euro Overnight Index Average) minus 10 basis points, but this 
rate cannot be less than zero, up to the eighth day of the month for the preceding month. The obligatory reserve is held in 
EUR.   
 
 
14. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM BANKS 
 

In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Correspondent accounts with foreign banks 2,479  5,070 
Special-purpose deposits held with foreign banks 67  76 
Special-purpose deposits held with domestic banks 10  10 
 
 2,556  5,156 
 
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank had correspondent accounts with the following foreign banks: Raiffeisen Bank 
International AG, Komercijalna banka AD Beograd and Intesa SanPaolo Bank DD Bosnia and Herzegovina.  
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14. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM BANKS (Continued)  
 
As of December 31, 2017 special purpose deposits held with foreign banks amounting to USD 67 thousand relates with a 
deposit held with Santander Bank in USA, with an annual interest rate of 0.25%, for the purpose of MasterCard settlement 
account.  
 
 
15. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS 
 

In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Matured loans:       
 - privately-owned companies 722  623 
 - state-owned companies  37  34 
 - entrepreneurs  1  2 
 - retail customers 317  139 
 
Short-term loans:    
 - privately-owned companies  3,861  6,420 
 - companies which are majority owned by state  270  12 
- non-governmental organizations  -  8 
 - entrepreneurs  26  746 
 - retail customers 234  190 
 
Long-term loans:    
 - privately-owned companies  58,265  38,823 
 - companies which are majority owned by state 817  1,382 
- non-governmental organizations  -  5 
 - entrepreneurs  450  648 
 - retail customers 39,379  27,215 
 
 104,379  76,247 
 
Interest receivables:    
 - loans 344  198 
 
Deferrals:   
 - interest on loans 257  194 
 - loan origination fees (720)  (567) 

 (119)  (175)
 
Total  104,260  76,072 
 
Less:    
Allowance for impairment of loans (415)  (114) 
Allowance for impairment of interest (48)  (11) 

 (463)  (125)
Total loans and receivables from customers    
 103,797  75,947
 
 
Short-term loans to corporate entities are mostly approved for current assets with maturities from one month to 24 months, 
while long-term loans are granted for a period of 12 to 120 months and mostly relate to companies in the areas of trade, 
construction and service industries. Short-term and long-term loans to corporate entities are mostly approved at a nominal 
interest rate of 4.5% to 15% per annum.  
 
Short-term retail loans are granted for a period of one month to 12 months with interest rate ranging from 7.25% to 18% 
annually. Long-term loans to retail customers include cash loans, loans for housing construction, renovation of housing 
and business premises, financing the purchase of consumables and other purposes, maturing within 12 to 241 months 
with an interest rate ranging from 5.25% to 18%.  
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15. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS (Continued)  
 
The geographical concentration of loans to customers in the Bank's loan portfolio mainly relates to clients domiciled in the 
territory of Montenegro, Serbia, Bosnia, the USA and European Union. 
 
The concentration of loans and receivables from customers per industry was as follows: 
 

In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Trade 18,273  14,319 
Construction industry 10,217  8,765 
Accommodation and catering services 13,516  8,507 
Processing industry 3,934  3,596 
Other services 1,073  3,133 
Water Supply 229  - 
Professional, scientific and technical activities 2,093  1,809 
Health and Social Welfare 1,349  1,592 
Transport and storage 2,548  2,040 
Art, entertainment and recreational activities 1,405  691 
Information and communications 2,739  1,429 
Agriculture 1,751  471 
Mining and quarrying 867  903 
State Administration 13  174 
Education 169  221 
Real estate trade 3,199  62 
Financial and insurance activities 435  29 
Administrative and support service activities 59  123 
Retail 39,598  28,019 
Cards  330  190 
 
 103,797  76,073 
 
 
16. SECURITIES  
 
16.1. Held-to-Maturity Securities  
 
As of December 31, 2017 the balance of held-to-maturity securities amounted to EUR 2,414 thousand, whose face value 
was EUR 2,415, and relate to the purchase of treasury bills with a maturity of 182 days, issued by the Ministry of Finance 
of Montenegro. The remaining portion of EUR 405.48 is related to the unamortised discount of the T-bills held to maturity.  
 
16.2. Securities Available for Sale 
 
As of December 31, 2017 the balance of securities available for sale amounting to EUR 5,487 was fully related to: 
 

- EUR 1,500 thousand of the ISIN bonds: MEGB16KA1PG4, whose face value is EUR 1,500 thousand, at an 
interest rate of 4% per annum, bought at a primary issuance at face value;  

- EUR 1,000 thousand of the ISIN bonds: XS1377508996, whose face value is EUR 1,000 thousand, at an 
interest rate of 5.75%, bought at a market value of EUR 1,093 thousand. 

- Treasury bills whose maturity date is 182 days and face value is EUR 2,809 thousand. 
 
The remaining portion of EUR 105 thousand is related to the valuation of securities at the market value and to the 
unamortised discount in the amount of EUR 20 thousand. 
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Movements on property, plant, equipment and other assets for 2017 and 2016 are presented in the following table: 
 
 In thousands of EUR 

  Buildings  

Equipment 
and other 

assets  Total 
 
Cost    
Balance as of 1 January 2016 364 1,000  1,364 
Additions 67 126  193 
Sales and disposals - -  - 
Balance as of 31 December 2016 431 1,126  1,557
 
Additions  66 162  228 
Balance as of 31 December 2017 497 1,288  1,785
 
Accumulated depreciation   
Balance as of 1 January 2016  33 159  192 
Depreciation (Note 10) 32 162  194 
Sales and disposals -  -   - 
Balance as of 31 December 2016 65 321  386
 
Depreciation (Note 10) 43 199  242 
Balance as of 31 December 2017 108 520  628
 
Net Book Value:   
  - 31 December 2017 389 768  1,157
 
  - 31 December 2016 366  805  1,171 
 
 
As of December 31, 2017, the Bank does not own properties under collateral agreements for insuring the repayment of 
loans and other liabilities. 
 
 
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Intangible assets are mostly comprised of licenses and software. The movements on intangible assets in the course of 
2017 and 2016 were as follows: 
 

In thousands of EUR 
 2017  2016
 
Cost    
Balance as at January 1 644  613 
Additions 69  31 
 
Balance as at December 31 713  644 
 
Accumulated Amortization   
Balance as at January 1 249  118 
Amortization (Note 10) 143  131 
    
 
Balance as at December 31  391  249 
 
Net Book Value as at  321  395 
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19. OTHER FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES AND OTHER OPERATING RECEIVABLES 
 
a) Other financial receivables  
 

In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Given advances 35  39 
Receivables from funds for sick leave 7  22 
Other 55  34 
 
 97  95 
 
b) Other operating receivables 
 

In thousands of EUR

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Advance payments 40  39 
Other 13  5 
 
 53  44 
 
20. DEPOSITS DUE TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS  
 
 In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Demand deposits:    
 - privately-owned companies 14,480  15,690 
 - regulatory agencies 70  63 
 - state-owned companies 121  293 
 - entrepreneurs 436  425 
- non-profit organizations 848  75 
- retail customers 10,840  9,764 

 26,795  26,310
Short-term deposits:    
 - financial institutions  250  250 
 - regulatory agencies  2,080  209 
 - state-owned companies 4,600  3900 
 - privately-owned companies 4,515  5,755 
 - retail customers  34,420  25,164 

 45,865  35,278
Long-term deposits:    
- financial institutions 530  530 
- privately-owned companies 1,320  1864 
- privately-owned insurance companies 530  
- retail customers 23,036  19,162 

 25,416  21,556
 
 98,076  83,144 
Payables for interest and other liabilities   
Invoiced interest: deposits 3  - 
Accruals: deposits 1,197  795 

   1,200    795
 
 99,276  83,939 
 
 
No interest rate is applied on the demand deposits by retail customers. Same applies for the privately owned companies, 
private and other organizations, unless otherwise agreed with the client.   
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20. DEPOSITS DUE TO CUSTOMERS AND BANKS  (Continued)  
 
Short-term deposits of retail customers denominated in EUR are placed at interest rates ranging annually from 0.1% to 
2.3% whereas long-term deposits are mainly placed at the rates between 2.3% and 3.3%. 
 
Short-term and long-term deposits of legal entities are placed at interest rates ranging annually from 0.1% to 2.8%. 
 
 
21. BORROWINGS FROM OTHER CLIENTS  
 
 In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Liabilities to related parties:   
DEG 0  3,000 
 
Liabilities to domestic creditors:   
Investment-Development Fund 14,796  12,614 
 
Government of Montenegro 397  331 
 
Liabilities to foreign creditors:    
Microfinance Enhancement Facility SA, SICAV-SIF (BlueOrchard Pool), 
Luxembourg 4,500  5,000 
BlueOrchard Microfinance Fund Luxembourg 3,000  3,000 

 22,693  25,945
 
Accrued interest  24  155 
Accrued interest and fees on borrowings 29   (108) 
 
 22,746  25,992 
 
 
The borrowing from the German Development Fund DEG in the amount of EUR 3,000 thousand, which was approved in 
the amount of EUR 3,500 on November 15, 2014 for a five-year period and a two-year grace period, at a variable interest 
rate of 6%+6M EURIBOR and semi-annual interest payments, was repaid in advance on May 15, 2017 on the basis of a 
decision passed by the Bank’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2017 the Bank has no liabilities to the German 
Development Fund DEG.  
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank had liabilities to the Investment and Development Fund in the total amount of EUR 
14,796 thousand, and a liability amounting to EUR 397 thousand to the Government of Montenegro based on the Project 
1000+.  
 
Liabilities to domestic creditors relate to borrowed assets of the Investment Development Fund (IDF), which are approved 
the Bank for financing projects approved by the Fund, in which the Bank charges its margin for assuming credit risk. The 
borrowing liabilities as of 31 December 2017 to the IDF  – long-term borrowings amount to EUR 14,632 thousand and were 
approved at an interest rate ranging from 1% to 6% p.a. while short-term borrowings amount to EUR 164 thousand, also 
at the interest rate from 1% to 6% p.a. 
 
 
Liabilities to the Government of Montenegro – Project 1000+: 
 
     In thousands of EUR 
Approved 
amounts  Approval date  Maturity date Interest rate 

Balance as of
December 31, 2017

 
397  09.12.2016.  09.12.2036 0.75% 397 
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21. BORROWINGS FROM OTHER CLIENTS (Continued)  
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank has no liabilities to the Investment Fund Global Microfinance Fund ResponsAbility from 
Luxembourg since four borrowings totalling EUR 2,000 thousand, which were approved for microfinancing, matured and 
were paid on July 24 2017. 
 
All four loans were approved as at July 24, 2015, for a period of two years. The contractual maturity dates are as follows: 
 

- 25 July 2017         – EUR 467 thousand 
- 25 July 2017                 – EUR 1,067 thousand 
- 25 July 2017                 – EUR 200 thousand 
- 25 July 2017          – EUR 267 thousand  

 
at a fixed interest rate of 4.9% and semi-annual interest payments.  
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank had liabilities to the Investment Fund BlueOrchard Pool from Luxembourg for three 
borrowings amounting to EUR 7,500 thousand which were approved for the purpose of microfinancing.  
 
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the contracts concluded with the creditor, the Bank is obligated to adjust its 
operating results to certain financial ratios. As of December 31, 2017 the Bank’s financial ratios did not comply with the 
terms and conditions from the contract with the Investment Fund BlueOrchard Pool (PAR over 30 days and restructured 
loans reduced by the provisions for loans). The Bank is in the process of signing an Annex to the Contract, which will 
amend the required covenants and contain a waiver from the creditor for the ratios departing from the limit. 
 
All three loans have been granted for a three-year period. The contractual maturity dates are as follows: 
 

- 12 May 2019                – EUR 2,000 thousand 
- 18 July 2019                – EUR 3,000 thousand 
- 1 December 2019  – EUR 3,000 thousand 

 
A fixed interest rate of 4.5% was agreed for the first two borrowings and 4.3% for the third one, whereas the interest is due 
for payment on a semi-annual basis.  
 
 
22. OTHER LIABILITIES  
 

In thousands of EUR

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Liabilities to domestic trade payables 42  27 
Liabilities to foreign trade payables -  1 
Accrued liabilities 121  45 
Provisions for retirement benefits 4  4 
Other liabilities  835  300 
 
 1,002  377 
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23. CAPITAL  
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank's share capital was comprised of 28,400 ordinary shares (December 31, 2016: 21,400 
ordinary shares), with the individual nominal value of EUR 500.   
 
The Law on Banks (“Official Gazette of Montenegro”, No. 17/08, 44/10 and 40/11) stipulates that the minimum monetary 
amount of the share capital is EUR 5 million. 
 
The Bank’s equity structure as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 
 

 
December 31,

2017

Name of the person/company  
Number of 

shares 

Amount in 
EUR 

thousand  % of share 
 
Aleksandra Popovic (Aleksandra Popović, Andrej Perović, 
Katarina Perović,  Miljan Mališ, Vinko Nikić, Jovana 
Popović, Svetozar Jovićević, Nenad Radulović, Norah Licet 
Becerra Farfan, Ivan Popivoda, Predrag Vušurović, Mirjana 
Perović, Ljubiša Mitrović, Draško Trninić) 7,843 3,921.5  27.61% 
DEG 7,816 3,908.0  27.52% 
ZETAGRADNJA 5,716 2,858.0  20.13% 
Božidar Vušurović 4,449 2,224.5  15.67% 
Luka Nikčević 2,022 1,011,0  7.12% 
Ivana Tatar-Radulović 421 210,5  1.48% 
Ana Pejović 60 30,0  0.21% 
Tanja Vidić 45 22,5  0.16% 
Mirjana Perendija  28 14,0  0.10% 
 
 28,400 14,200  100.00% 

 
 

 December 31, 2016 

Name of the person/company  
Number of 

shares 
Amount in 

EUR thousand  % of share 
 
Aleksandra Popovic (Aleksandra Popović, Andrej Perović, 
Katarina Perović,  Miljan Mališ, Vinko Nikić, Jovana 
Popović, Svetozar Jovićević, Nenad Radulović, Norah Licet 
Becerra Farfan, Ivan Popivoda, Predrag Vušurović) 6,026 3,013.0  28.16% 
DEG 6,003 3,001.5   28.06% 
ZETAGRADNJA 4,243 2,121.5   19.83% 
Božidar Vušurović 3,667 1,833.5   17.13% 
Luka Nikčević 914 457.0   4.27% 
Ivana Tatar-Radulović 421 210.5   1.97% 
Ana Pejović 60 30.0   0.28% 
Tanja Vidić 45 22.5   0.21% 
Mirjana Kovačević  21 10.5   0.09% 
 
 21,400 10,700  100.00% 

 
 
In order to ensure that the amount of the Bank’s own funds is above the statutory minimum and support the planned growth 
of the Bank, the Board of Directors of the Bank convened two irregular sessions of the General Meeting in the period from 
May to November 2017 and proposed decisions on an increase in the Bank’s share capital in the amount of EUR 3,500 
thousand. The General Meeting unanimously supported the proposals of the Board by passing decisions on an increase 
in the Bank's share capital in the total amount of EUR 3,500 (EUR 1,500 thousand at a July session and EUR 2,000 
thousand at a November session of the General Meeting). 
 
Pursuant to the Decision on Establishing the Performance of Share Issuance No. 02/12e-6/8-17 dated August 2017, the 
Commission for Securities of Montenegro confirmed the success of the issuance and the sale of shares to the 
predetermined persons that are bound to purchase the entire issuance in the total amount of EUR 1,500 thousand for cash 
(3,000 shares of a nominal value of EUR 500), which accounts for 100% of the issue.  
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23. CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
The data on the new issuance of shares was registered with the Central Depository Agency on August 23, 2017.  
 
Pursuant to the Decision no. 03-8710-10/2017, the Central Bank of Montenegro issued an approval on December 27, 2017 
to the corporate entity Zetagradnja DOO Podgorica for a qualifying holding in over 20% of the equity interest in Lovćen 
banka AD Podgorica (on May 28, 2014 Zetagradnja DOO obtained the approval from the Central Bank of Montenegro for 
the purpose of acquiring a qualifying holding in the Bank in the amount of 15% of the Bank’s equity). 
 
Pursuant to the Decision on Establishing the Performance of Share Issuance No. 02/12e-15/7-17 dated December 11 
2017, the Commission for Securities of Montenegro confirmed the success of the issuance and the sale of shares to the 
predetermined persons that are bound to purchase the entire issuance in the total amount of EUR 2,000 thousand for cash 
(4,000 shares of a nominal value of EUR 500), which accounts for 100% of the issue. 
 
The data on the new issuance of shares was registered with the Central Depository Agency on December 13, 2017.  
 
Costs directly related to the issuance of new shares are recognized as expenses in the period in which those occur.  
 
Pursuant to the Decision no. 03-4137/8-2017, the Central Bank of Montenegro issued an approval on June 20, 2017 to the 
private individual Luka Nikčević for the purpose of acquiring a qualifying holding in the amount of 5,046729% in the equity 
interest in Lovćen banka AD Podgorica. 
 
Pursuant to the Decision no. 03-8710-10/2017, the Central Bank of Montenegro issued an approval on November 27, 2017 
to the corporate entity Zetagradnja DOO Podgorica for a qualifying holding in over 20% of the equity interest in Lovćen 
banka AD Podgorica (on May 28, 2014 Zetagradnja DOO obtained the approval from the Central Bank of Montenegro for 
the purpose of acquiring a qualifying holding in the Bank in the amount of 15% of the Bank’s equity). 
 
In August 2017 shareholders: Aleksandra Popović, Andrej Perović, Katarina Perović, Miljan Mališ, Vinko Nikić, Jovana 
Popović, Svetozar Jovićević, Nenad Radulović, Ivan Popivoda, Predrag Vušurović, Norah Licet Becerra Farfan and Mirjana 
Perović signed Annex II to the Agreement on Pooling Shares and Opening a Joint Account (concluded on March 11, 2015), 
which was joined by the shareholders Draško Trninić and Ljubiša Mitrović by signing Annex III to the Agreement in 
December 2017. The holder of the management rights and owner of the joint account is shareholder Aleksandra Popović. 
Movements in the joint account were recorded with the Central Depository Agency on the day of recording the ninth and 
tenth issuance of shares – August 23, 2017 and December 13, 2017. 
 
 
24. COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGULATIONS OF THE CENTRAL BANK OF MONTENEGRO  
 
In accordance with the regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum capital 
adequacy ratio of 10%. The Bank is required to comply its operations within the prescribed parameters, i.e. to comply the 
volume and structure of risky assets with the Law on Banks ("Official Gazette of Montenegro" no. 17/08, 44/10, and 40/11) 
and the regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro.   
 
The Bank's solvency ratio as of December 31, 2017 amounted to 12.55% (minimum 10%). 
 
As of December 31, 2017 the own funds of the Bank were above the prescribed minimum of EUR 5,000 thousand and 
amounted to EUR 10,151 thousand.   
 
 In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
I Basic elements of own funds   
Paid-up share capital 14,200  10,700 
 
II Deductible items during the calculation of own funds   
Accumulated losses 2,152  2,352 
Intangible assets 321  395 
Positive difference between the amount of calculated provisions for potential 
losses and the sum of the amounts of allowance for impairment for balance 
sheet assets and provisions for off-balance sheet items 1,576  624 
 
Bank's own funds 10,151  7,330 
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24. COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGULATIONS OF THE CENTRAL BANK OF MONTENEGRO (Continued)  
 
As of December 31, 2017 the deductible items that decrease the Bank's own funds are related to: 
 

 the accumulated losses in the amount of EUR 2,152 thousand, 
 Missing reserves calculated in accordance with the applicable legislation for individual Bank exposures to credit 

risk in the amount of EUR 1,576 thousand,  
 The book value of the Bank's intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 amounted to EUR 321 thousand.  

 
Risk-weighted balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet items, created in accordance with the Decision on Banks' 
Capital Adequacy, amounted to EUR 73,726 thousand as of December 31, 2017. 
 
The solvency ratio is calculated by placing it in relation to own funds and risk-weighted balance sheet assets and off-
balance sheet items: 
 

 In thousands of EUR 
I Bank's own funds 10,151
1. Stake capital 10,151 
2. Supplementary capital - 

    
II Total weighted balance sheet assets 73,726
1. Weighted balance sheet assets 67,680 
2. Weighted off-balance sheet items 6,047 

    
III Required capital for market risks 4

   
IV Required capital for operational risk 700

   
V Required capital for country risk 127

   
VI Required capital for other risk -

   
VII Bank's solvency ratio 12.55%

 
 
The compliance with business indicators prescribed by the Central Bank of Montenegro, as of December 31, 2017 is as 
follows: 
 

 
Prescribed limit of 

CBM  

Achieved business 
indicators as of 

December 31 2017 
 
Bank’s solvency ratio min 10%  12.55% 
Bank’s exposure to one party or a group of related parties max 25%  20.23% 
Large exposures sum  max 800%  207% 
Total exposure to parties that have qualifying holding in the Bank max 20%  2.40% 
Total exposure to the Bank's related parties  max 200%  33.96% 
Total exposure to persons employed in the Bank  max 1%  1% 
The ratio of investment in real estate and fixed assets max 50%  7.27% 
Bank’s liquidity ratio min 1%  2.13% 
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25. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS  
 

In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
Off-balance assets that bear credit risk   
Irrevocable commitments to grant loans 4,304  2,047 
Guarantees:   
- issued payment guarantees 3,883  2,398 
- issued performance guarantees 4,227  3,873 
 
Other off-balance items 12,414  8,318 
 
Collaterals on receivables  239,713  144,882 
 
In accordance with the Decision of Central Bank of Montenegro on Minimum Standards for Credit Risk Management in 
Banks ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", no. 22/12, 55/12 and 57/2013) the receivables from bank balance sheets are 
transferred to the internal records if the bank estimates in the process of collecting the receivables that the value of 
receivables measured at amortized cost will not be compensated and that the conditions are met for derecognition of 
financial assets, which includes the following cases:  
 
1) for unsecured receivables:  

- when the debtor subject to bankruptcy proceedings lasting longer than one year, or 
- if the debtor is late with payments for more than two years;  
 

2) for secured receivables, when the debtor is late with payments for more than four years, or if the bank during this 
period did not receive any payment from the realization of collateral.   
 

In accordance with the applicable legislation, there is only one receivable that is derecognized from the Bank’s 
balancerecords in the amount of EUR 5 thousand as of December 31, 2017. 
 
 
26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS   
 
The Bank adopted a Procedure for Bank’s Related Party Transactions. 
 
The Procedure includes accurate definitions of: 
 

‐ Responsibilities for making decisions on the Bank’s related party transactions 
‐ Exposure limits for the Bank’s related parties 
‐ Types of possible the Bank’s related party transactions   

 
Bank’s related parties are: 
 

 members of the Bank’s bodies, shareholders, employees, as well as the members of their immediate family 
(spouse and children); 

 a legal entity in which another entity that has qualifying holding in the bank also has qualifying holding;  
 a legal entity in which one of the entities under items 1) and 2) of this point has a significant influence or an entity 

under item 1) of this point is either a director, a member of the Board of Directors or other relevant body of such 
a legal entity, 

 an entity that has an equity share or voting rights of minimum 50% in a legal entity that has qualifying holding in 
the bank; 
 

According to the type of a transaction, an exposure level and the type of the Bank’s related parties, certain Bank’s related 
party transactions can be classified under the category of less important Bank’s related party transactions. 
 
According to the type of a transaction, less important transactions are: 
 

‐ Approving cash loans, consumer loans, including overdrafts on current accounts and credit cards, and housing 
loans to the Bank’s retail customers 

‐ Approving loans, guarantees and letters of credit to legal entities in accordance with what the bank offers  
‐ Sale or purchase of the assets whose value is lower than or equals 20,000 EUR 
‐ Raising deposits 
‐ Paying goods and services whose value is lower than or equals 10,000 EUR 
‐ Asset lease, whose monthly rent is lower than 5,000 EUR  
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 
 
According to the exposure level, less important transactions are:  
 

‐ Exposures to the Bank’s employees and members of their immediate family, whose total exposure is lower than 
or equals 20,000 EUR; 

‐ Exposures to members of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee or executive directors, as well as to members 
of their immediate family, whose exposure equals or is lower than 50,000 EUR; 

‐ Exposures to legal entities that are under control of the persons under previous item/or members of their 
immediate family, whose total exposure is lower than or equals 50,000 EUR; 

‐ Exposure to a shareholder that does not have a qualifying holding, including legal entities that are under control 
of such a shareholder and members of their immediate family, whose total exposure is lower than or equals 
50,000 EUR; 

According to the type of a related party, less important transactions are those performed with:  
 

‐ Employees 
‐ Members of employees’ immediate family, members of the Bank’s bodies and shareholders 
‐ Shareholders that do not have qualifying holding  

 In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
Receivables   
Loans:   
 - Truck Trade d.o.o., Podgorica 5  30 
 - Daily Press d.o.o., Podgorica -  53 
 - Labor d.o.o., Podgorica 50  - 
 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica 617  - 
 - LD Group d.o.o.  300  - 
 - Micromedia d.o.o. Podgorica 150  - 
 - Gross market d.o.o. Podgorica 113  - 
- Loans to shareholders (individuals) 234  157 
Bank guarantees:    
 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica 223  758 
 - Daily Press d.o.o., Podgorica -  20 
 - Micromedia d.o.o. Podgorica 70  - 
 - TV Vijesti 100  - 
Total receivables: 1,862    1,018   
 
Liabilities   
A vista deposits:   
 - Boalsa d.o.o.Tivat 6  5 
 - For d.o.o. -  7 
 - Natural Cake d.o.o. -  2 
 - TV Vijesti 10  39 
 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica 5  3 
 - LD Group d.o.o.  -  18 
 - Daily Press d.o.o., Podgorica 7  5 
 - Zetagradnja d.o.o. 739  439 
- Deposits to Bank’s related parties (individuals) 717  612 
- Deposits to shareholders (individuals) 851  -  

 2,335  1,130
Liabilities on borrowings:    
- DEG (Note 20) -  3,000 
Liabilities for interest:    
 - DEG (Note 20) -  22 
Accruals (borrowings):    
 - DEG (Note 20) -   (30) 
Liabilities to suppliers 8   9 
 
Total liabilities 2,343  4,131 
 
Liabilities, net  (481)  (3,113) 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)  
 
A total exposure to the employees at Lovćen Banka and to their related legal and natural persons on the basis of all balance 
and off-balance sheet exposures, i.e. loans, credit cards, guarantees, etc., amounts to EUR 3.4 million (December 31, 
2016: EUR 1.3 million). 
 
Total generated income from interest and benefits of employees and their related parties on the basis of the said exposures 
amounts to EUR 98 thousand (2016: EUR 94 thousand).  
 
Employees are granted interest under conditions that are the same as for retail clients.   
 
Income and expenses arising from transactions with related parties during 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
 
 In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
Interest and fee income   
 - LD Gradnja d.o.o. Podgorica 13  8 
 - Daily Press d.o.o., Podgorica -  7 
 - Zetagradnja d.o.o. -  7 
 - LD Group d.o.o. Podgorica -  - 
 - Labor d.o.o. Podgorica 3  - 
 - Micromedia d.o.o. Podgorica -  - 
 - Gross market d.o.o. Podgorica 6  - 
 - Interest of shareholders (individuals) -  - 
Total income  22  22
 
Fee and interest expenses:   
 - DEG interest (Note 5b) (65)  (206) 
 - DEG fees (Note 7b)  (30)  (10) 
 - interest of shareholders (individuals (62)  (7) 
General expenses:    
Security (196)  (179) 
Hygiene (19)  (18) 
Lease (98)  (68) 
Other expenses -  - 
Total expenses  (470)  (488)
 
Net expenses    
 
 (448)  (466) 
 
 
Benefits to the top management and the Board of Directors on the basis of gross salaries in 2017 amounted to EUR 494 
thousand (2016: EUR 406 thousand).  
 
 
27. LITIGATIONS  
 
During 2017 Lovćen banka AD Podgorica were not actively and passively involved in any litigations. 
 
 
28. OPERATING LEASE  
 
Agreements on operating lease, with determined lease period refer to the lease of business and residential premises. The 
Bank has no option to purchases the rented business premises at the end of the lease period.  
 
The lease expense during 2017 amounted to EUR 463 thousand (2016: EUR 416 thousand).  
 
The lease of business premises represents the liabilities for a period of 5 to15 years.  
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28. OPERATING LEASE (Continued)  
 
Commitments in respect of agreements of operating lease on business premises that are not reflected in the financial 
statements to the balance sheet date are as follows: 
 

In thousands of EUR 

 
December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
 
Up to 1 year 452  428 
Between 1 and 5 years 1,574  1,577 
More than 5 years 1,436  1,762 
 
 3,462  3,767 
 
 
29. EARNINGS PER SHARE  
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual net profit belonging to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period.   
 
 2017  2016
 
Gain for the year in EUR thousand 436  199 
Average weighted number of shares 22,983  20,900 
 
Gain/loss per share in EUR 18.9790  9.5393 
 
 
30. TAXATION RISKS  
 
Montenegro tax legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and legislative changes occur frequently. The interpretation 
of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the transactions and activities of the Bank may not differ from the views of 
the Bank's management. Consequently, transactions may be challenged by the relevant tax authorities and the Bank could 
be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest. The periods remain open to review by the tax and customs authorities 
with respect to tax liabilities for five years. This practically means that tax authorities could determine payment of 
outstanding liabilities in the period of five years from the origination of the liability.  
 
 
31. EXCHANGE RATES  
 
The official exchange rates used in the translation of the statement of financial position components denominated in foreign 
currencies into EUR as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 
 December 31, 

2017  
December 31, 

2016 
USD 0.8338  0.9487 
CHF 0.8546  0.9312 
GBP 1.1271  1.168 
 
 
32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
 
After the balance sheet date there were no events that could have an impact on the financial condition and results of 
operations in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017. 
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33. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE BANK  
 
In accordance with the Decision on the Content, Deadlines and Manner of Preparation and Submission of Financial 
Statements of Banks ("Official Gazette of Montenegro" no. 15/12 and 18/13) general information on the Bank is presented 
below: 
  
Bank`s name:     Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica; 
Address:     Bulevar Džordža Vašingtona 56/I, 81000 Podgorica; 
Registration number:   02829541 
Telephone/Fax:     + 382 (0)20 205 410  
Web page:                                http://www.lovcenbanka.me 
E-mail:                                  office@lovcenbanka.me 
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank had a head office seated in Podgorica and nine branch offices. 
 
As of December 31, 2017 the Bank had 95 employees (December 31, 2016: 82 employees). 
 
Gyro account: 565-1-84.   
 
Lovćen banka, as a legal successor, originated from the change in the registered business activity and the name of  “MFI 
Kontakt”, which submitted an application to the Central Bank of Montenegro on  December 3, 2013 for obtaining an 
operating licence for Lovćen banka AD, Podgorica.  
 
The Bank is registered with the Central Registry of the Commercial Court under the number 4-0009270/011. 
 
On May 28, 2014 the Central Bank of Montenegro issued an operating licence to the Bank. 
 
Lovćen Banka AD Podgorica commenced operations on 25 August 2014 and was founded by resident and non-resident 
entities, along with the German state fund DEG (KfW Group). 
 
 
Information on the Chairperson and members of the Board of Directors is presented below:  
 

Function First and Last Name Date of Birth 
Residence 
Data Address 

 
1. Chairperson of the 
Board of Directors on 
a professional basis Aleksandra Popović 

Personal data 
protected by law Montenegro Personal data protected by law 

2. Member Andreas Zeisler 
Personal data 
protected by law Germany 

Personal data 
protected by law 

3. Member 
Farfan Becerra Norah 
Licet 

Personal data 
protected by law Germany 

Personal data protected by 
law 

4. Member Blagota Radović 
Personal data 
protected by law Montenegro 

Personal data 
protected by law 

5. Member Mirjana Perendija  
Personal data 
protected by law Serbia 

Personal data protected by 
law 

6. Member Klaus Glaubitt 
Personal data 
protected by law Germany 

Personal data protected by 
law 

7. Member Ernst Welteke 
Personal data 
protected by law Germany Personal data protected by law 

 
CEO Vinko Nikić 

Personal data 
protected by law Montenegro Personal data protected by law 

 
 
On October 14, 2016 (pursuant to the Decision no. 4-0009270/024 issued by the Central Business Entities Register) 
Lovćen banka registered Aleksandra Popović as the Chairperson of the Board of Directors on a professional basis. Ms 
Popović entered into a Contract on Professional Engagement of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors with Lovćen 
banka AD (October 7, 2016 and July 18, 2018) and receives the remuneration in accordance with the Decision No. 01-IX-
v/4 issued by the General Meeting on October 7, 2016 and Decision No. 01-III/7 dated May 30, 2017. 
 
All members of the Board of Directors were reappointed and their mandates were confirmed by a unanimous decision of 
the General Meeting at its third regular annual session held on May 30, 2017 in accordance with the Law. 
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33. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE BANK (Continued) 
 
The Bank's top management is comprised of a team of experts whose portfolios meet the requirements and fulfil the 
responsibilities prescribed for managing Bank's operations on a daily basis, who have had experience in performing 
executive functions for a longer period of time as well as necessary leadership traits and competences.  
 
According to the Decision no. 4-0009270/026 issued by the Central Business Entities Register on January 12, 2017, the 
change of the Executive Director for Corporate Banking and Asset Management (Vinko Nikić) and the Executive Director 
for Retail Banking and Branch Offices (Draško Trninić) at business entity Lovcen banka AD Podgorica was recorded.  
 
Bank's executive directors until June 2017.  
 
FIRST AND LAST 
NAME FUNCTION Function performed from: 
Goran Knežević, 
PhD CEO  October 17, 2016 

Vinko Nikić, PhD 
Executive Director of Corporate Banking and Asset 
Management August 25, 2014 

Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail Banking and Branch Offices January 12, 2017 
 
In May 2017 the Board of Directors appointed Nenad Radulović as the Liquidity Management Executive Director. 
Furthermore, the Board relieved the CEO Goran Knežević of duties, at his request, and appointed Vinko Nikić as the acting 
CEO. In June 2017 the Board of Directors passed a Decision on appointing Vinko Nikic as the Bank's CEO. In July 2017 
the Board passed a decision on changing the name of the function of the executive director Nenad Radulović to the 
Executive Director for Risk, Finance, Accounting, IT and Liquidity Management. 
 
Changes in the Bank’s top management were recorded pursuant to the Decision No. 4-0009270/027, dated May 26, 2017, 
and the Decision No. 4-0009270/028 of June 7, 2017, Decision No. 4-0009270/029, dated June 16, 2017 and Decision 
No. 4-0009270/030 of August 2, 2017 issued by the Central Business Entities Register.  
 
Bank's executive directors since June/August 2017. 
 
FIRST AND LAST 
NAME FUNCTION Function performed since: 

Vinko Nikić, PhD CEO  June 16, 2017 

Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail Banking and Branch Offices January 12, 2017 

Nenad Radulović 
Executive Director for Risk, Finance, Accounting, IT and 
Liquidity Management June 7, 2017 

 
 
The structure of the Board of Directors: 
 
Audit Committee: 
Milenko Popović, PhD, Chairperson  
Miro Perović, member  
Nikola Kaluđerović, member  
 
Pursuant to the Law on Banks and the Bank’s Articles of Association, the Audit Committee draws up proposals, opinions 
and stands with regard to its scope of work defined under the Law on Banks and the Bank’s Articles of Association and 
submit them to the Board of Directors to make relevant decisions. The operating and reporting methods of the Board of 
Directors are defined under the Rules of Procedure of the Committee.  
 
Pursuant to the Law on Banks and the Bank’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors established two standing 
advisory bodies: 
 
1) The Credit Risk Management Committee puts forward decisions on granting loans to the Board of Directors in 
accordance with the limits of individual exposure or a group of related exposures of the agreed policies and procedures for 
credit risk management of Lovćen Banka AD.  
 
The Credit Risk Management Committee has at least 3 (three) members who are experienced in the areas of lending and 
risk management at the Bank. One of the members is the Bank’s CEO.  
 
The members of the Board of Directors are also the members of the Credit Risk Management Committee, but the total 
number of the members of the Board of Directors in the Committee cannot exceed 1/3 of the total number of the members 
of the Credit Risk Management Committee. The Committee members are appointed by the Board of Directors. 
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33. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE BANK (Continued)  
 
2) The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) monitors Bank’s risk exposure resulting from the structure of its balance 
sheet liabilities and receivables and off-balance sheet items and proposes measures to the Board of Directors for liquidity 
risk management.  
 
The ALCO members are the CEO, executive directors and persons with special authorisations and responsibilities. The 
Committee members are appointed by the Board of Directors. 
 
The operating and reporting methods of the Board of Directors of these bodies are defined under the Rules of Procedure 
of the said bodies. 
 
 
Top management structure 
 
Credit Committee 
 
The Articles of Association of Lovćen Banka AD (Article 37, paragraph 4) stipulates that the Bank’s CEO and at least 
another executive director may set up the Credit Committee, in accordance with the Law on Banks, for the purpose of more 
efficient risk management at the Bank, and that a separate decision regulates the composition, mandates, responsibilities 
and other matters related to the Credit Committee’s activities. Two internal general bylaws, which were adopted according 
to the specified Article of the of Articles of Association, were in place during the preparation of these financial statements: 
the Decision No. II 2549 on Establishing the Credit Committee, dated November 1, 2016 along with amendments of April 
6, 2017 and the Decision No. II -1540/1, dated August 29, 2017. According to these Decisions, the Credit Committee 
comprises five permanent members and two associated members, with arbitrament of up to EUR 150,000 of exposure to 
a private individual and their related party, i.e. of up to EUR 500,000 of exposure to their related parties. 
 
The Articles of Association of Lovćen Banka AD (Article 39, paragraph 2) stipulates that the Bank’s CEO, for the purpose 
of more efficient performance, may set up committees and commissions, appoint advisors, etc. that are not deemed a part 
of the Bank’s corporate governance system within the meaning of the Bank’s Articles of Association and the law.    
 
Ten major shareholders as of March 30, 2018: 
 

Name of the person / company  
Residence / 
Registered Address 

Number of 
Shares  % ownership 

 
Aleksandra Popović 
/Perović Andrej/Perović Katarina/Nikić Vinko/Mališ 
Miljan/Popović Jovana/Vušurović 
Predrag/Radulović Nenad/Becerra Farfan Norah 
Licet/Jovićević Svetozar/Popivoda Ivan/Perović 
Mirjana/Trninić Draško/Mitrović Ljubiša  

Personal data 
protected by law 7,876  27.73% 

DEG  
Germany, Koln,  
Kammergasse  7,816  27.52% 

Zetagradnja doo Podgorica  
Montenegro, Podgorica, 
V Proleterske bb  5,716  20.13% 

Božidar Vušurović  
Personal data protected 
by law  4,449  15.67% 

Luka Gavrila Nikčević  
Personal data protected 
by law  2,022  7.12% 

Ivana Tatar Radulović  
Personal data protected 
by law  421  1.48% 

Ana Pejović  
Personal data protected 
by law   60  0.21% 

Radovan Vučinić  
Personal data protected 
by law   12  0.42% 

Mirjana Perendija  
Personal data protected 
by law   28  0.10% 

 
  28,400  100.00% 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 
 

1.1. ASSETS 
 
Total banks’ assets at the end of  December 2017 amounted to EUR 4,182 million and increased compared 

to the end of 2016 by EUR 391.2 million or 10.32%. The major part of the assets refers to loans and receivables 
from banks and clients which make 61.98% of total assets. Five big banks (Crnogorska Komercijalna Banka, 
Hipotekarna Banka, Erste Banka, Societe Generale Banka and Montenegrobanka NLB) control 60.81% of total 
banks’ assets. Due to increased competitiveness, the concentration of five large banks was reduced compared to 
the end of 2016 when five large banks accounted for 63% of total assets. The largest bank in the system 
participates with 14.70% in total assets. The total share of six small banks in the market is only 10.76%. 

 
Table 1. Market share of banks’ assets 

 
Bank 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

1 

Crnogorska 
Komercijalna 
Banka 24.39 24.50 22.97 20.92 18.24 16.84 15.69 14.70 

2 Hipotekarna Banka 4.38 5.50 6.18 7.57 9.33 12.54 11.33 11.83 
3 Erste Banka 8.15 10.63 12.40 11.86 12.02 10.62 11.88 11.73 

4 
Societe Generale 
Montenegro  8.83 10.09 11.11 11.78 12.14 11.82 11.88 11.56 

5 
Montenegrobanka 
NLB 17.78 18.63 16.96 17.36 16.47 13.99 12.53 10.99 

6 
Prva Banka CG 
established in 1901 10.64 8.94 8.59 8.45 8.81 9.27 9.92 10.52 

7 Addiko Bank  15.21 10.02 8.86 8.13 7.58 7.59 6.69 6.31 
8 Atlas Banka 6.19 6.45 7.26 8.11 7.74 6.71 6.84 6.13 

9 
Universal Capital 
Bank 0.66 1.00 0.85 0.89 1.89 2.48 3.06 5.47 

10 Lovćen Banka         0.64 1.68 3.14 3.24 

11 
Komercijalna 
Banka Budva 2.80 3.16 3.44 3.65 3.72 3.17 2.93 3.00 

12 Zapad Banka           1.53 1.52 1.63 
13 Ziraat Bank           0.38 1.06 1.26 

14 
Invest Banka 
Montenegro  0.95 1.30 1.39 1.27 1.41 1.39 1.22 1.08 

15 Nova Banka             0.31 0.54 
Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 

 
  

Lovćen Banka AD is at 10th place according to the market share of total assets. Compared to 2016, 
Lovćen Banka has achieved an increase in total assets in amount of EUR 16,8 million i.e. 14.13%. 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.1. ASSETS (Continued ) 
 
Table 2. Total assets by banks 
                        (000 EUR) 

 Bank 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

1 
Crnogorska Komercijalna 
Banka 691,346 645,377 618,892 572,032  585,586  594,686  614,870  

2 Hipotekarna Banka 155,588 173,777 224,043 292,672  411,310  429,539  494,836  
3 Erste Banka 299,832 348,397 350,920 376,884  369,239  450,475  490,600  

4 
Societe Generale 
Montenegro  284,627 312,190 348,464 380,801  436,091  450,218  483,375  

5 Montenegrobanka NLB 525,746 476,475 513,803 516,689  486,582  475,002  459,787  

6 
Prva Banka CG 
established in 1901 252,435 241,310 250,074 276,313  322,404  376,111  439,978  

7 Addiko Bank 282,823 248,934 240,642 237,859  229,229  253,807  263,894  
8 Atlas Banka 182,129 203,972 239,990 242,697  262,819  259,392  256,368  
9 Universal Capital Bank 20,833 23,970 26,468 59,403  86,043  115,958  228,660  

10 Lovćen Banka       19,998  58,294  118,879  135,682  

11 
Komercijalna Banka 
Budva 89,246 96,645 107,962 116,641  110,360  111,047  125,268  

12 Zapad Banka         53,054  57,658  68,307  
13 Ziraat Bank         13,240  40,254  52,693  
14 Invest Banka Montenegro  36,939 38,998 37,658 44,268  48,170  46,288  45,310  
15 Nova Banka           11,680  22,607  
 Total 2,821,544 2,810,045 2,958,916 3,136,257 3,472,421 3,790,994 4,182,235 

 
 

Chart 1: Total assets and market share 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.1. ASSETS (Continued) 
 
1.1.1. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 
Table 3. Total loans and receivables from banks and clients 
                              (000 EUR) 

   31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 Dec 2017/Dec 2016 
1 Erste Banka  263,763 247,444 269,746 329,793 60,047 
2 Societe Generale Montenegro  281,410 317,925 316,679 364,029 47,350 
3 Crnogorska Komercijalna Banka 447,912 381,299 308,246 350,762 42,516 
4 Hipotekarna Banka 192,180 210,665 232,016 265,891 33,875 
5 Lovćen Banka 14,113 45,790 81,105 106,353 25,248 
6 Komercijalna Banka Budva 64,931 67,353 55,875 75,136 19,261 
7 Addiko Bank 180,389 166,010 187,365 203,880 16,515 

8 
Prva Banka CG established in 
1901 182,736 185,542 197,035 211,653 14,618 

9 Ziraat Bank   6,896 33,748 46,562 12,814 
10 Nova Banka     2,715 12,582 9,867 
11 Montenegrobanka NLB 327,768 313,461 297,282 306,167 8,885 
12 Zapad Banka   36,902 46,918 55,293 8,375 
13 Universal Capital Bank 42,818 65,341 79,952 87,968 8,016 
14 Invest Banka Montenegro 31,762 29,040 25,787 24,938 -849 
15 Atlast Banka 183,448 183,544 155,529 151,214 -4,315 
         Total 2,213,230 2,257,212 2,289,998 2,592,221 302,223 

 
Note: Preliminary Balance Sheet and Income Statement data taken from the CBCG website 
 

The table shows that in 2017, Lovćen Bank was the fifth one to achieve nominal growth of total loans and 
receivables from banks and clients in the system. When total loans and receivables from clients are observed, 
Lovćen Banka ranks 8th in terms of market share, with a nominal increase in loans and receivables from 
clients in the amount of EUR 27.8 million, or an increase of 36.67% over the year. 
 

Chart 2: Market share - loans and receivables 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.1. ASSETS (Continued) 
 
1.1.1 LOANS AND RECEIVABLES (Continued) 

 
Chart 3: Total absolute change in loans and receivables 

 
 
 

Non-performing loans (excluding interest and accruals) at the end of 2017 amounted to EUR 197 million 
and accounted for 7.3% of total loans. The non-performing loans of the banks dropped by 5.6% annually. Lovćen 
Banka has a significantly lower amount of non-performing loans than the system average. Non-performing 
loans of Lovćen Banka (including interest and fee receivables) at the end of 2017 amounted to 0.79% of total loans. 
 
1.1.2. LENDING INTEREST RATES ON LOANS 
 

The weighted average nominal interest rate on loans granted to individuals and legal entities amounted to 
7.31% and 5.23% respectively. The weighted average effective interest rate on total loans granted at the end of 
December 2017 amounted to 6.81% and recorded a decrease of 0.65 pp. The effective interest rate on loans 
granted to individuals was 8.19%. and 5.70% on loans granted to legal entities. 

 
According to these parameters, Lovćen Banka is above the system average. WALNIR on total loans 

in Lovćen Banka is 7.64%. WALNIR on loans to legal entities in Lovćen Banka amounts to 6.81% and on 
loans to natural persons 8.73%. 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.1. ASSETS (Continued) 
 
1.1.2. LENDING INTEREST RATES ON LOANS (Continued) 
 
Table 4. Movements of nominal interest rates on loans in the banks’ system 
 

  31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 
WALNIR on total loans 8.41 7.70 6.74 6.16 
WALEIR on total loans 9.22 8.53 7.45 6.81 
WALNIR for natural persons 9.14 8.74 7.79 7.31 
WALEIR for natural persons 10.10 9.77 8.70 8.19 
WALNIR for legal entities 7.74 6.72 5.73 5.23 
WALEIR for legal entities 8.39 7.36 6.23 5.70 

 
 
1.2. DEPOSITS 
 

Total deposits of the banking sector (including funds on escrow accounts, interest and accruals) as of 31 
December 2017 amount to EUR 3.279 million and have growth of 13.6% annually. If we regard the total deposits 
of clients as of 31 December amounting to EUR 3.272 million, Lovćen Banka, according to the market share 
of clients’ deposits representing 3.03%, ranks 10th. The deposits of clients of Lovćen Banka (including funds 
on escrow accounts, interest and accruals) at the end of 2017 amount to EUR 99,276 thousand, and over the year 
they achieved an increase of EUR 15,337 thousand or 18.27%. 

 
At the end of 2017, the ratio of loans and receivables from clients and customer deposits (including funds 

on escrow accounts, interest and accruals) amounted to 68.99%. The ratio of loans and receivables of clients and 
clients’ deposits of Lovćen Banka amounts to 104.6%  
 
Chart 4: Market share of clients’ deposits 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.2. DEPOSITS (Continued) 
 
Chart 5: Total absolute change of client’s deposits 

 

 
 
Chart 6: Loans/deposits 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.2. DEPOSITS (Continued) 
 
1.2.1. INTEREST RATE ON DEPOSITS 
 

In December 2017, the weighted average deposit nominal interest rate was 0.70% and compared to the 
end of 2016 it dropped by 0.24 percentage points. Weighted average nominal interest rate on deposits of natural 
persons amounted to 0.90%, while it amounted 0.47%.on deposits of legal entities  

 
According to these parameters, Lovćen Banka is significantly above the system average. WADNIR 

on total deposits in Lovćen Bank amounts to 2.29%. WADNIR for legal entities in Lovćen Banka is 1.30%, 
and for natural persons 2.72%. 
 
Table 5. WADEIR 
 

  31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 
WADEIR on total deposits 1.87 1.24 0.94 0.70 
WADEIR on deposits of natural 
persons 2.30 1.62 1.25 0.90 
WADEIR on deposits of legal 
entities 1.27 0.76 0.57 0.47 

 
 
1.3. CAPITAL 
 

Total capital of banks as at 31.12.2017 amounts to EUR 514.2 million. Compared to December 2016, total 
capital increased by EUR 26.1 million or 5.34%. Total capital of Lovćen Banka as at 31 December amounts to 
EUR 12,589 thousand and has an annual growth of 47.24%. Lovćen Banka ranks 11th in the banking system 
according to the market share of capital. 
 
Table 6. Total capital of banks 
 

Bank 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 
1 Crnogorska Komercijalna Banka 41,228  81,510  84,595  89,980  93,231  102,769  
2 Montenegrobanka NLB 15,580  50,355  45,796  70,169  78,008  69,805  
3 Erste Bank 32,476  39,744  32,420  51,950  60,016  67,061  

4 
Societe Generale Montenegro 
Banka 35,133  39,728  32,404  49,536  55,813  60,341  

5 Hipotekarna Banka 24,740  29,132  29,293  34,405  38,459  45,054  

6 
Prva Banka CG – established in 
1901 21,409  28,897  47,042  32,669  32,984  34,041  

7 Atlas Banka 25,973  28,642  45,136  29,503  28,900  32,919  
8 Addiko Bank 43,883  47,634  69,438  31,861  22,253  22,330  
9 Komercijalna Banka Budva 34,279  31,873  31,631  27,397  20,450  20,368  
10 Invest Banka Montenegro 15,051  15,153  15,140  15,149  14,378  13,606  
11 Lovćen Banka     5,133  5,849  8,548  12,589  
12 Universal Capital Bank 4,283  4,524  6,009  8,668  8,796  9,507  
13 Nova Banka         10,788  9,188  
14 Zapad Banka       5,579  7,914  7,653  
15 Ziraat Bank       9,000  7,642  7,063  

Total 294,035 397,192 444,037 461,715 488,182 514,294 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.3. CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
Chart 7: Total capital and market share 

 
 

 
1.4. PROFITABILITY 

 
At the end of 2017, the banking system operates with a gain. According to the available data, the operating 

profit at the system level is EUR 35 million. The most profitable bank for the observed period of operations in 2017 
is Crnogorska komercijalna banka. Lovćen banka is in the eighth place according to the achieved financial result. 
The negative financial result at the level of the system was expressed by three banks. Lovćen banka achieved a 
return on total assets in the amount of 0.32% and return on total capital in the amount of 3.46%. The cost to income 
ratio of Lovćen banka is 85.20% and it achieves a decrease on an annual level of 10.8 percentage points. 
 
Table 7.  Financial results of banks 
 

Bank 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 
1 Societe Generale Montenegro Banka 5,714 6,532 7,936 7,391 
2 Atlas Banka 207 6,310 7,791 310 
3 Montenegrobanka NLB 5,476 1,558 5,993 5,993 
4 Invest Banka Montenegro 21 2,729 3,849 -772 
5 Hipotekarna Banka 2,454 7,137 2,869 4,216 
6 Prva Banka CG established in 1901 520 199 243 252 
7 Lovćen Banka -577 -1,761 202 436 
8 Erste Bank 5,968 382 163 7,899 
9 Crnogorska Komercijalna Banka 3,094 294 128 9,129 

10 Zapad Banka   -921 64 17 
11 Universal Capital Bank 36 13 -751 364 
12 Ziraat Bank   -1,045 -1,175 -865 
13 Nova Banka   0 -1,192 -1,565 
14 Komercijalna Banka Budva 1,124 -4,987 -6,948 757 
15 Addiko Banka -250 -20,590 -9,544 1,472 

  23,787 -4,150 9,628 35,034 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.4. PROFITABILITY (Continued) 
 
Chart 8: Net profit/loss 

 
 
 9: Chart ROA 

 
 

Chart 10: ROE 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

1. BANKING SECTOR OF MONTENEGRO IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
1.4. PROFITABILITY (Continued) 
 
Table 8. CIR 
 

Bank 31.03.2012 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 
1 Universal Capital Bank 202.89 194.8 117.30 95.77 97.24 108.88 96.04 
2 Invest Banka Montenegro 91.27 92.4 89.70 98.26 94.03 201.31 184.95 

3 
Societe Generale 
Montenegro Bank 68.20 69.0 59.50 56.05 52.57 48.72 53.55 

4 Erste Bank 61.85 59.1 65.80 62.08 60.76 59.82 61.55 
5 Hipotekarna Banka 69.64 75.3 76.20 76.29 66.44 67.15 69.47 
6 Atlas Banka 84.62 99.7 107.60 97.23 86.72 90.76 77.47 
7 Montenegrobanka NLB 51.53 62.3 67.00 75.26 62.64 58.54 61.31 

8 
Prva Banka CG 
established in 1901 92.62 324.9 131.40 89.63 115.25 106.45 95.60 

9 Addiko Bank 124.35 109.8 100.00 87.73 114.75 105.17 101.87 

10 
Komercijalna Banka 
Budva 69.52 73.1 75.30 79.94 102.72 118.17 93.71 

11 
Crnogorska Komercijalna 
Banka 88.02 83.6 69.40 68.48 71.76 73.81 74.30 

12 Lovćen Banka       116.18 200.17 96.05 85.20 
13 Zapad Banka         255.48 97.61 113.22 
14 Ziraat Bank         29624.1 254.84 173.22 
15 Nova Banka         0.00 -743.84 505.33 

  
 
 
2. BANK’S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
2.1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BANK 

 
The Board of Directors manages the Bank and supervises its operations. The Board of Directors performs 

all its activities and obligations in accordance with the law, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Bank is comprised of experienced banking and business experts with proven 

successfullness in all businesses and projects that they implemented as managers of significant institutions in the 
country or abroad.  

 
Table 9.  Board of Directors of the Bank1 

Position Name and surname Date of birth 
Country of 
residence 

1. full-time Chairperson Aleksandra Popović  01.12.1966 Montenegro  
2. member Phd Andreas Zeisler  13.01.1959 Germany 
3. member Norah Licet Becerra Farfan  11.04.1961 Germany 
4. member Blagota Radović 25.09.1958 Montenegro 
5. member Mirjana Perendija (Kovačević)  22.09.1955 Serbia 
6. member PhD Klaus Glaubitt 16.09.1944 Germany 
7. member Ernst Welteke 21.08.1942 Germany 

  

                                                      
1 At the third regular Annual Shareholders Meeting held on 30 May 2017, in accordance with the Law on Business 
Organizations, all members of the Board of Directors were re-elected and their mandate confirmed by unanimous decision of 
the GSM.  
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

2. BANK'S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continued) 
 
2.1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BANK (Continued ) 

 
During 2017, the Board of Directors held thirteen regular and thirty extraordinary, electronic sessions. All 

regular sessions were held in an extended composition, because the meetings were attended, in addition to the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Secretary of the Bank, as Minute Taker, by executive directors, 
independent functions, other persons with special authorizations and responsibilities, as well as a representative 
and member of the Audit Committee of the Bank as invitees and rapporteurs for certain items of the agenda. 

 
 In addition to considering, analyzing and adopting of reports on business operations and the 

implementation of the plan, reports on risk management and reports on commercial activities, as well as minutes 
of previous sessions, the Board of Directors, for the purpose of harmonization with the legislation and improvement 
of the functioning of the internal control system, adopted and made amendments to the documents regulating the 
operations of the Bank, management of all types of risks, review of regular and extraordinary reports of independent 
functions in the Bank (internal audit, compliance department, department for prevention of money laundering, 
CISO). The Board of Directors analyzed and adopted reports on the work of the Audit Committee, the ALCO and 
the Credit Risk Management Committee, as well as the Annual Report with the report of independent external 
auditor for 2016. The Board of Directors also reviewed the Reports of Examination of the Central Bank of 
Montenegro. In this regard, since July 2017, as a regular item on the agenda of regular sessions, it included 
permanent monitoring of the implementation of recommendations and findings from the Report of full-scope 
examination of the Central Bank of Montenegro. 

 
In accordance with the prescribed obligations, the Board of Directors, upon the proposal of the Credit Risk 

Management Committee, considered and approved transactions that significantly influence the structure of the 
balance sheet and risk of the Bank's operations, as well as transactions with persons related to the Bank, the 
approval of which is within the competence of the Board of Directord. In addition, the Board of Directors was 
specifically focused on the analysis of the Bank's revenues and the reduction of expenditures and, in this regard, 
at the 46th extraordinary session of the Board of Directors held on 12 May 2017, adopted the Program for the 
rationalization of expenditures of the Bank (Cost Reduction Program). 

 
In May 2017, the Board of Directors, upon the personal request, relieved Chief Executive Officer Goran 

Knežević of his duties, and appointed Acting CEO Vinko Nikić. In June 2017, the Board of Directors adopted the 
Decision on the appointment of Vinko Nikić as Chief Executive Officer of the Bank. 

 
In order to improve the overall operations of the Bank, Lovćen Banka, on the basis of the decisions of the 

Board of Directors (August and December 2017), with the help of its strategic partner DEG, concluded two 
Agreements on engagement of foreign consultants who will provide technical assistance to the Bank for the 
establishment of the environment and social risk management system and improvement of corporate business so 
that the Bank will fully coordinate its operations with the best practice of responsible lending. 

 
The Board of Directors also convened three General Shareholders Meetings - regular annual General 

Shareholders Meeting (May 2017) and two extraordinary sessions (July and November 2017). In order to 
strengthen capital adequacy, the Board of Directors of the Bank determined proposals of the decisions on increase 
of the Bank's share capital in the total amount of EUR 3,500,000.00 (EUR 1,500,000.00 in July and EUR 
2,000,000.00 at the November GSM) and amendments to the Articles of Association of the Bank were made. All 
decisions of all the sessions of the General Shareholders Meetings  were adopted unanimously, i.e. with 100% of 
votes "IN FAVOR" of all the shareholders of the Bank. 

 
In addition to the decisions, the Board of Directors has adopted a number of conclusions and 

recommendations, the follow-up of which is regularly monitored under Current Issues of the agenda.  
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

2. BANK'S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continued) 
 

2.2.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS OF THE BANK 
 
The Executive Management of the Bank is composed of a team of experts who meet the requirements and 

responsibilities prescribed for bank management tasks on a daily basis, have experience in performing executive 
functions over a longer period, as well as the required leadership characteristics and competencies. 
 
Table 10. Executive Directors of the Bank until June 2017 
 

NAME AND SURNAME FUNCTION UNTIL 
PhD Goran Knežević Chief Executive Officer 17.10.2016 

PhD Vinko Nikić 
Executive Director for Commercial Business and 
Treasury 

25.08.2014 

Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail with Branch Network 12.01.2017 
 
Table 11. - Executive Directors of the Bank since June 2017 
 

NAME AND SURNAME FUNCTION UNTIL 
PhD Vinko Nikić Chief Executive Officer 16.06.2017 
Draško Trninić Executive Director for Retail with Branch Network 12.01.2017 

Nenad Radulović 
Executive Director for Risk Management, Finance 
and Accounting, IT and Treasury 

07.06.2017 

 
2.3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS' BODIES 
 
2.3.1. AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

PhD Milenko Popović, chairman, 
Miro Perović, member, 
Nikola Kaluđerović, member. 

 
In accordance with the Law and the Articles of Association of the Bank, the Audit Committee prepares 

proposals, opinions and positions from its scope of work for the decision-making by the Board of Directors on these 
issues. The manner of work and reporting to the Board of Directors is defined by the Rules of Procedure of this 
body. 

 
In accordance with the Banking Law and the Bank's Articles of Association, the Board of Directors has 

established two permanent, advisory bodies: 
 
2.3.2. CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

The Credit Risk Management Committee proposes to the Board of Directors the adoption of decisions on 
granting of loans in accordance with the limits of individual exposures or group of related exposures determined 
by policies and procedures for credit risk management of Lovćen Banka AD. 

 
Members of the CRMC are: 
Norah Licet Becerra Farfan, chair, 
Blagota Radović, member, 
Nenad Radulović, member, 
Vinko Nikić, member, 
Nikola Vasilić, member.  
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

2. BANK'S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continued) 
 

2.3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS' BODIES (Nastavak) 
 
2.3.3. ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
 

The Asset and Liability Management Committee is there to monitor the Bank's exposure to risks arising 
from the structure of its balance sheet liabilities and receivables and off-balance sheet items and propose measures 
to the Board of Directors for liquidity risk management. 

 
Members of ALCO are: 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Executive Director for Risk Management, Finance and Accounting, IT and Treasury, 
Executive Director for Retail with Branch Network, 
Director of Risk Management Division 
Director of Accounting and Finance. 
 
The manner of work and reporting to the Board of Directors of these bodies is defined by the Rules of 

Procedures of these bodies. 
 
2.4. CREDIT COMMITTEE 
 

The Bank's Articles of Association (Article 37 paragraph 4) stipulates that for the purpose of more efficient 
risk management in the Bank entrusted to them by the Banking Law, Chief Executive Officer and and minimum 
one more Executive Director may form the Credit Committee, and that a special decision regulates the composition, 
authority and responsibility and other issues of relevance for the work of the Credit Committee. In the respective 
period of this report, two internal general legal regulations of the Bank  adopted on the basis of the aforementioned 
Bank's Articles of Association were in force, as follows: Decision on establishment of the Credit Committee No. II 
2549 of 01.11.2016 with amendments of 06.04.2017 and the Decision on establishment of the Credit Committee 
No. II-1540/1 of 29.08.2017. According to these decisions, the Credit Committee consists of 5 permanent members 
and two associated members, with the right to decide up to EUR 150,000 of exposure of a natural person and 
related persons, i.e. up to the amount of EUR 500,000 of exposure of a legal entity and related persons. 

 
The Articles of Association of the Bank (Article 39, paragraph 2) stipulates that Chief Executive Officer, for 

the purpose of more efficient performance of the tasks entrusted to him may form committees, commissions, 
appoint advisors, etc., which, in the meaning of the Articles of Association of the Bank and the Law, are not 
considered part of the system of corporate management of the Bank.    
 
 
2.5. INFORMATION ON INVESTMENTS IN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
 

Lovćen Banka has undertaken a number of activities in order to improve the process of managing 
environmental and social risks (hereinafter E&S). Namely, with the consulting assistance of DEG which pays 
considerable attention to this issue, the Bank's professional units are currently in the process of innovating internal 
documents from the field of E&S risks management. Draft Framework for E&S Risk Management has been 
developed and it contains innovated Policy and Procedures for  E&S Risk Management by which currently valid  
Policy and Procedure shall cease to be valid. This framework presents in detail all the necessary elements of E&S 
risk management, from initial screening and analysis to off-site and on-site due diligence, decision-making, E&S 
risk management and monitoring of E&S performance of clients. This document also specifies the management of 
E&S aspect in new products and internal control system in the entire process. The document also contains a list 
of excluded activities, as well as the list of high risk activities. In addition to this, attached to this document is the 
form of the Client Statement and the Environmental and Social Protection Questionnaire. 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

2. BANK'S ID AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continued) 
 
2.5. INFORMATION ON INVESTMENTS IN ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Continued) 
 

The Bank plans to train employees on the topic of expanding the culture of risk management improvement 
for the purpose of environmental protection, at which the employees who are in charge of risk taking and risk 
management will be presented with obligations and responsibilities in the process of managing E&S risks, as 
prescribed by the newly proposed E&S Risk Management Framework. A team of DEG's consultants is in charge 
of conducting the training, and they will convey experience of managing these risks in countries with a high-level 
environmental protection. 

 
2.6. PLANNED FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BANK 

 
Lovćen Banka, as a relatively young bank in the Montenegrin banking market, is becoming a significant 

factor in creation of a comprehensive banking offer and environment in Montenegro, by which it safely implements 
its mission and set goals. 

 
The mission of Lovćen Banka is to contribute to the development of Montenegrin companies, support 

citizens' initiatives and growth of the national economy and create new economic opportunities for its clients. 
Lovćen Banka believes in projects of its clients and supports them through simple procedures, committment and 
maximum discretion, in order to ensure their financial stability, growth and development. 

 
In the previous period, the Bank successfully implemented its business plans. The Bank gathered a team 

of professional people dedicated to the development of the Bank, developed a business network of 9 branches on 
the most attractive locations, introduced a range of new products. 

 
Since the very beginning, Lovćen Banka has been focused on small and medium enterprises, as well as 

micro entrepreneurs and has supported a large number of new ideas of micro, small and medium businesses, thus 
giving a chance to a large number of companies, as well as independent entrepreneurs, to implement their ideas. 
Thus, Lovćen Banka helped creation of new jobs, increase in GDP, increase of competitiveness, and, therefore, 
improvement of the overall economic environment in Montenegro. 

 
Starting from the vision and mission of Lovćen Banka, the environment in which it operates, legal 

regulations, achieved results of the Bank's operations and clear business orientation, for the future planned 
development, the Bank is guided by the following principles and goals: 

 
The most important planning principles are: 

 Having in mind the mission and vision of the Bank during planning; 
 Analyzing the macroeconomic and banking environment; 
 Ambitiously set goals; 
 A conservative approach to planning with a high level of risk aversion; 
 Clear dynamic approach to all key elements of planning (planning at the monthly level for 2018 and 

quarterly for future periods); 
 Variety of methodological approaches; 
 Possibility to monitor the implementation of goals. 

 
The key qualitative objectives are: 

 Maintaining optimal capital adequacy; 
 Continuous intensive growth with the preservation of portfolio quality; 
 Increasing profitability; 
 Strengthening the internal control system; 
 Innovation, development of new products and preservation and strengthening of relations with clients; 
 Increasing specialization and division of work in all fields; 
 Human resources development.  



 
 

17 
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3. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 
 
The Bank has established, maintains and improves a comprehensive, efficient and effective system of 

internal control, which is provided through: efficiency and effectiveness of performance of operations at all levels 
of competence in the Bank, reliability, timeliness and completeness of financial and other information on the Bank's 
operations, compliance with the law, other regulations and general documents of the Bank. 

 
The Bank develops and maintains a system that enables efficient operations, adequate risk control, 

reliability of financial and non-financial information, and compliance of the Bank's operations with laws, by-laws 
and internal documents of the Bank. 

 
By its internal control system, the Bank primarily controls the area of management of the Bank, as well as 

accounting and finance. 
 
Control in the area of Bank management, as a minimum includes: 
 
- establishment, monitoring and development of the organizational structure of the Bank, with defined 

individual duties and authorizations; 
- monitoring procedures and records related to the decision-making on business transactions at all 

levels of management. 

Control in the field of accounting as a minimum includes the control of compliance with plans, policies and 
procedures that provide: 

- execution of business transactions in accordance with the decisions of the Bank's bodies; 
- timely and accurate bookkeeping of business transactions, which enables the preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with the law and International Accounting Standards, i.e. 
International Financial Reporting Standards, with the possibility of checking and comparing the 
bookeeping balance with the actual balance. 

In the implementation of these control measures, directly or indirectly integrated into business processes, 
all the employees in all organizational units of the Bank participate together with management bodies. 

The composition of internal control in the Bank consists of four independent functions: 

- the function of monitoring of risk management; 
- the function of monitoring compliance of business operations; 
- internal audit function; 
- the function of preventing money laundering and terrorist financing. 

When setting up control functions, the following rules are established: 

- all of these functions are independent of each other; 
- each control function independently and directly reports on its work, in accordance with the laws, by-

laws and internal documents of the Bank; 
- each control function has a certain number of employees who have the appropriate professional 

qualities and compentences. 

The Bank provides the following by its internal control systems: 

- performing daily processes in an efficient and effective way; 
- Careful business management; 
- adequate identification, measurement and mitigation of risks; 
- reliability of financial and non-financial information in internal and external reporting; 
- efficient and effective administrative and accounting procedures; 
- observance of laws, regulations, orders of the Central Bank of Montenegro and internal policies of 

institutions, processes, rules and decisions.  
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3.  INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM  (continued) 
 
3.1. BUSINESS ETHICS 

 
Business ethics is a set of rules established with the aim of maintaining proper and acceptable behavior of 

all Bank employees. The internal documents of the Bank - the Code of Ethics and the Conflict of Interest Manual 
with elements of insider business are promoted and they regulate in more detail general ethical principles and 
norms of professional banking behavior. 

 
Good reputation of the Bank (reputation risk) represent its highest value and are based on respect for the 

following values that relate to: 
 
- integrity of all employees; 
- correct, fair, lawful and transparent transactions; 
- quality and competence in the provision of Bank services; 
- pointing out the advantages and positive characteristics of the Bank and avoiding negative comments 

about market competition; 
- putting the Bank's interests above personal interests and 
- doing business in accordance with current regulations and internal procedures and good banking practice. 
 
In addition to evaluating general and special conditions in the course of its employment that are defined  by 

internal organization and systematization of the Bank, the Bank shall take into account personal integrity of each 
of the candidates reflected in his/her moral values that make him-her suitable for the work in the Bank. 

 
The Bank has established a system of internal warnings (so-called "whistle-blowing procedure") for 

employees to report on potential or actual violations of relevant regulations including document and actions that 
are considered bad banking practices, improper and unsafe transactions through a specific, independent and 
autonomous reporting channel. 

 
Employees of the Bank report any situation of actual or potential conflict of interest in relation to themselves, 

their relatives, their personal and business interests or business interests of their relatives, in accordance with the 
internal document regulating the field of prevention of conflict of interests. Employees cooperate with the Bank so 
that they could ensure quick and effective resolution of the situations of conflict of interest. In relation to their 
position, job and / or interests of the Bank, employees refrain from behavior or any position that may result in 
conflict of interest. 

 
The Bank strictly prohibits every kind of corruption and any form of corruptive behavior of the Bank's 

employees, in particular receiving and giving bribes, which would increase their personal assets and assets of 
persons related to the employees of the Bank, as well as the behavior of the Bank's employees who, by abusing 
their position, encourage or compel other employees and third parties to perform these actions. 

 
All employees of the Bank, including the Executive Management, the Bank's Secretary, the independent 

functions of the Bank, and third parties with whom the Bank concludes legal affairs in order to use all types of 
services that these persons provide as their registered activity, sign Statements on acceptance of fundamental 
ethical principles and rules of behavior set out in the Code of Ethics of the Bank. 

 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES 
 

In Montenegro, active population made 267.7 thousand of whom 222.1 thousand or 83.0% were employed 
and 45.6 thousand or 17.0% unemployed persons. Inactive population is 232.4 thousand persons, and in 
comparison with the previous quarter, the number of inactive population increased by 6.7%. 
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4.  HUMAN RESOURCES  (Continued) 
 

Out of the total number of active population, 56.1% are men, and 43.9% are women, while in the total 
number of inactive population, 40.4% are men and 59.6% are women. Out of the total number of the employed,  
56.6% are men, and 43.4% are women, and out of total number of the unemployed, 53.5% are men, and 46.5% 
are women. 

 
Educational structure of employed persons shows that 61.0% of persons have completed secondary school, 

followed by employees with completed college or higher education 30.4%, then persons with completed primary 
education or unskilled workforce 8.6%. 

 
4.1. EMPLOYEE  EDUCATION  LEVELS 

 
As of 31.12.2017, the Bank had 95 employees (31.12.2016 - 82 employees) with the following qualification 

structure: 
 

• PhD degree - 1 employee or 1.05% 
• Master's degree - 10 employees or 10.53% 
• University degree - 66 employees or 69.47%, and 
• High school education - 18 employees or 18.95% 

 
 
Chart 11 – Employee structure as of 31.12.2017 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES (Continued) 
 
4.2. ORGANIZATION OF WORK IN THE BANK  
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES (Continued) 
 
4.3. DATA ON OWNERS OF SHARES OF LOVĆEN BANKA 
 

 LOVĆEN BANKA 

27.52112676 % 

DEG 

20.12676056% % 

ZETAGRADNJA 

27.73239437 % 

 

 (joint account)     
 Popović 
Aleksandra, 
Perović Katarina, 
Perović Andrej,      
 Nikić Vinko,      
Mališ Miljan,     
 Popović Jovana, 
Perović Mirjana, 
Mitrović Ljubiša, 
Vušurović Predrag 
Radulović Nenad, 
Becerra Farfan 
Norah, Jovićević 
Svetozar, 

100% 77% 

PROMOCIJA 
PLUS 

100% 

Radović Blagota 

15.66549296 % 

Vušurović 
Božidar 

KFW 

80% 

Germany 

7.11971831 % 

Nikčević 
Luka 

20% 

Germany 

23% 

Radović 
Blagota 
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4. HUMAN RESOURCES (Continued) 
 
4.4. HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT 

 
In order to implement the strategic goals of the Bank, Human Resources Development Department of Lovćen 

Banka AD recognized the training and development of employees as key instrument of proactive and adaptive activities 
of the Bank in the existing environment. To that end, 836 hours of training was organized. Training of employees in 
Lovćen Banka is done in the form of in-house and open training, as well as coaching and on-the-job training (OJT), 
whereas for key positions in the Bank, study programs are planned, however no such programs were organized in 
2017. 

 
The basic goals of employee training during 2017 were the expansion of knowledge and the improvement of 

personal competencies of employees. 
 
At the individual level, the improvement of professional effectiveness by acquiring relevant knowledge, skills 

and competencies helps individuals to achieve the desired professional changes in terms of mobility and opportunities 
for advancement. At the Bank level, training has the function of developing synergy, creating corporate culture, 
strengthening managerial skills, ensuring quality and achievement of common goals. 

 
In 2017, for the first time, evaluation of employee performance was made. 
 
In order to strengthen and develop team spirit, Lovćen Banka carried out two team building projects during 

2017.  
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5. BUSINESS OPERATION IN 2017 
 
Table 12. – Business indicators in 2017 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

Description 2017 2016 
1 2 3 

BALANCE SHEET ASSETS 135,682 118,879 
GROSS LOANS  104,379 76,247 
 Retail loans 39,927 28,236 
 Corporate loans 64,452 48,013 
CLIENT’S DEPOSITS 98,077 83,144 
Retail deposits 68,297 54,089 
Corporate deposits 29,780 29,055 

    
LOSS/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS AFTER TAXES 436 199 
PROFITABILITY PARAMETERS   
  ROA -  gain / balance assets % 0.38 0.24 
  ROE – gain / total capital % 3.82 2.36 
NET INTEREST INCOME 4,591 3,461 
NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME  640 771 

    
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  95 82 
Assets per employee in 000  EUR 1,428 1,653 
OPERATING EXPENSES 4,470 4,076 

INDICATORS   
SOLVENCY RATIO  % 12.55 12.86 
LIQUIDITY RATIO  % 2.13 4.38 
CASH FLOW IN 000 EUR 22,356 37,219 
Interest income / interest bearing assets % 6.46 6.91 
Net interest income / interest bearing assets % 3.96 4.33 
Net interest and fee income / interest bearing assets % 4.52 5.31 
Interest expense / interest bearing liabilities % 2.13 1.73 
Operating expenses / total expenses % 51.16 58.08 
Operating expenses / liabilities % 3.31 3.43 
Liquid assets / deposits % 22.75 44.76 
Liquid assets / total assets % 16.46 31.31 
Liquid assets / short-term liabilities % 29.71 56.54 
Approved loans / Deposits 106.45 111.92 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.1. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS IN  2017 
 
Table 13.- Prescribed indicators of business operations as of 31.12.2017 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

No. DESCRIPTION LIMIT 31.12.2017 
1 2 3 4 
1 Solvency ratio min. 10 % 12.55% 
2 Bank's investments in fixed assets maks.  50% 7.27%* 
3 Exposure to bank-related parties maks. 25% 2.4% 
4 Large exposures maks. 800% 207.68% 
5 Total capital in 000 EUR min 5 mil 14,200 
6 Net assets in 000 EUR min 5 mil 10,151 
7 Total risk-weighted assets and other risks  000 EUR  74,557 
7.1. Bank's assets weighted for credit risk  73,726 
7.2. Required capital for market risks  4 
7.3. Capital required for operational risk  700 
7.4. Capital required for country risk  127 
7.5. Required capital for other risks  0 
7.6. Total open foreign exchange position  178 

*Note: Investments in fixed assets relate to 2017 
 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 
 
5.2.1. BANK'S ASSETS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 
Table 14. – Bank's assets as of  31 December 2017 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

BANK’S ASSETS 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 Index 
1 2 2 4=2/3 

ASSETS    
Cash and deposit accounts with Central Banks 19,801 32,063 62 
Loans and receivables from banks 2,556 5,156 50 
Loans and receivables from clients 103,797 75,947 137 
Investment securities held to maturity 5,487 2,601 211 
Property, plant and equipment 2,414 1,407 172 
Intangible assets 1,157 1,171 99 
Other financial receivables 321 395 81 
Other operating receivables 97 95 102 
ASSETS 53 44 119 
TOTAL ASSETS 135,682 118,879 114 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.1. BANK'S ASSETS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Continued) 
 
Bank's assets in the annual period grew by EUR 16.8 million, or 14.13%. Loans and receivables from banks and clients 
as at 31.12.2017 amounted to EUR 106.3 million and made 78.38% of the total assets, and in the annual period they 
increased 31.13%. Significant share in the assets refers to cash and deposit accounts with central banks which account 
for 14.59% and which had annual decrease of 38.24%. Investment securities account for 5.82% of total assets and 
they have an annual increase of 97.13%. 
 
Table 15.- Gross loans to clients as at 31 December 2017 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

No. DESCRIPTION 31.12.2017. 31.12.2016. 

Index 

(3 : 4)*100 
1 2 3 4 5 
I LOANS TO CLIENTS  104,379 76,249 137 
1 Corporate 64,452 48,013 134 
2 Retail 39,927 28,236 141 

 
Total gross loans to clients as of 31.12.2017 amount to EUR 104,379 thousand and they had an annual increase of 
EUR 28,130 thousand, i.e. 36.89%. Gross loans granted to corporate segment amounted to EUR 64,452 thousand, 
accounting for 61.75% of total gross loans and in the one-year period they increased by 34.24%. Loans granted to 
retail represent 38.25% of total gross loans and they have an increase of 41.40% on annual basis. 

 
Chart 12: Loans to clients in 2017 

 

 
 

Long-term loans dominate in the structure of loans representing 89.23% of total gross loans and have an annual 
growth of 36.82%. Short-term loans loans account for 10.77% of total loans and have an annual growth of 52.71%. In 
the total off-balance sheet exposure, guarantees make 65.33% and have an annual increase of 29.32%. 

62%

38%

LOAN PORTFOLIO STRUCTURE AT THE END OF 
2017. 

Corporate Retail
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.1. BANK'S ASSETS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Continued) 
 
Table 16.- Overview of Bank's placements from  31.12.2016 - 31.12.2017 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

Type of placement 2017 % of share 2016 % of share Difference Index 

1 
2 3 4 5 6 

7=2/4*10
0 

Balance Sheet items        
Loans and receivables from banks 2,556 2% 5,156 2% -2,601 50 
Short-term loans 11,238 10% 7,748 13% 3,491 145 
Long-term loans 93,141 82% 68,501 85% 24,641 136 
Investment securities available for sale 5,381 5% 2,601 85% 2,780 207 
Investment securities held to maturity 2,414 2% 1,407 85% 1,008 172 
Interest and other receivables and 
prepaid/accrued expense -169 0% -186 0% 17 91 
Loans impairments -415 0% -114 0% -301 364 
Total balance exposure to credit risk 114,148 100% 85,111 100% 29,037 134 
Off-balance sheet items       
Financial guarantees 3,883 31% 2,398 29% 1,485 162 
Performance guarantees 4,227 34% 3,873 47% 354 109 
Undrawn credit lines 4,305 35% 2,047 25% 2,258 210 
Total off-balance exposure to credit risk 12,415 100% 8,318 100% 4,096 149 

 
 

Observed by the borrowers, in the structure of gross loans, privately owned companies account for 60.10%, 
followed by natural persons - residents with 38.25%. Loans to privately-owned companies grew on annual basis 
36.61%, while loans granted to individuals increased by 41.40%. 
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LOVĆEN BANKA 

5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.1. BANK'S ASSETS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Continued) 
 
Table 17. -   Overview of total exposures by borrowers 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

Type of placement  2017 % of share 2016 % of share Difference Index 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7=2/4*100 

Banks, non-residents 2,556 2% 5,156 6% -2,600 50 
State-owned business 
organizations 1,124 1% 1416 2% -292 79 
Privately owned business 
organizations  62,735 59% 45,922 57% 16,813 137 
Entrepreneurs 584 1% 658 1% -74 89 
Non-governmental and other 
non-profit organizations, 
residents  9 1% 17 0% -8 53 
Natural persons, residents 39,927 37% 28,236 35% 11,691 141 
Interest receivables and value 
adjustment of interest 
receivables  295 0% 187 0% 108 158 
Interest and fee accruals and 
value adjustments -464 0% -373 0% -91 124 

Loans impairments -415 0% -114 0% -301 364 
Total exposure to credit risk 106,353 100% 81,105 100% 25,248 131 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.2. BANK'S LIABILITIES AS OF 31 DECEMBER 
 
Table 18. – Bank's liabilities 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

LIABILITIES 
31 december 2017 31 December 2016 Index 

1 2 3 4=2/3 
LIABILITIES    
Banks’ deposits - - - 
Client’s deposits 99,276 83,939 118 
Borrowed funds from other clients 22,747 25,993 88 
Provisions 4 2 177 
Deferred tax liabilities 14 21 67 
Current tax liabilities 51 - - 
Other liabilities 1,002 377 266 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 123,093 110,332 112 
CAPITAL    
Share capital 14,200 10,700 133 
Retained earnings -2,152 -2,351 92 
Gain/(loss) in current year 436 199 219 
Other reserves 105 - - 
TOTAL CAPITAL 12,589 8,548 147 
TOTAL CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES 135,682 118,879 114 
     
OFF-BALANCE SHEET RECORDS 252,128 153,200 165 

 
 
The total deposits of the Bank (including funds on eskrow accounts, interest and accruals) amount to EUR 99,276 
thousand and have an annual increase of 18.27%. 
 
Chart 13: Deposit structure 31.12.2017  
 

  
 
 

Demand deposits at the end of 2017 amount 
to EUR 26,795 thousand or 27.32% of total 
deposits and they have an annual growth of 
1.84%. Time deposits amount to EUR 71,281 
thousand, or 72.68% of the Bank's deposits, 
and they achieve a nominal annual growth of 
EUR 14,447 thousand or 25.42%.  
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.2 BANK'S LIABILITIES AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Continued) 
 
Chart 14: Structure of deposits by sectors 31.12.2017  
 

 
 
Chart 15 – Maturity structure of deposits 31.12.2017. 
 

 

 
5.2.3. CHANGES IN EQUITY FROM  2016 TO 2017 

 
At its session on 12 May 2017, the Board of Directors of the Bank adopted a Proposal of the Decision on 

increase of share capital in the amount of EUR 1,500 thousand and proposals of the decisions on new issue of shares, 
which were followed by the decisions of the General Shareholders Meeting of 30 May and 27 July 2017. In addition, 
on 25 October 2017, the Board of Directors established a Proposal of the Decision on additional capital increase of the 
Bank in the amount of EUR 2,000 thousand followed by the decisions of the General Shareholders Meeting of the Bank 
on capital increase of the Bank by increasing share capital on 27 November 2017. 
  

The deposit structure by sectors at the end 
of 2017 indicates that retail deposits make 
69.64% of the total deposit base, i.e. EUR 
68,296 thousand, and achieve a nominal 
growth of EUR 14,207 thousand, or 
26.26%. 
The corporate deposits account for 
30.36% of the total deposits of the Bank, 
i.e. EUR 29,780 thousand, and annually 
they achieve growth of 2.50%.  
 

The maturity structure of deposits at the end 
of 2017 indicates that long-term deposits 
account for 25.91% of total deposits, i.e. EUR 
25,416 thousand and achieve a nominal 
annual growth of EUR 3,860 thousand, or 
17.91%. 
Short-term deposits account for 74.09% of the 
total deposits of the Bank, i.e. EUR 72.660 
thousand and have a nominal annual growth 
of EUR 11,072 thousand, i.e. 17.98%. 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.3. CHANGES IN EQUITY IN THE PERIOD FROM 2016 TO 2017 (Continued) 

 
By Decision on determining the success of the issue of shares No. 02/12e-6/ 8-17 of 21 August  2017, the 

Securities Commission of Montenegro confirmed the success of the issue and sale of shares in the total value of EUR 
1,500 thousand for cash (3,000 shares of individual nominal value of EUR 500), which makes 100% of the issue. 

 
The data on the new issue of shares was registered in the Central Depository Agency on 23 August 2017. 
 
By Decision on determining the success of the issue of shares No. 02/12e-15 / 7-17 dated 11 December  2017, 

the Securities Commission of Montenegro confirmed the success of the issue and sale of shares in the total value of 
EUR 2,000 thousand for cash (4,000 shares of individual nominal value of EUR 500), which makes 100% of the issue. 

 
The data on the new issue of shares was registered in the Central Depository Agency on 13 December 2017.  
 

Table  19. – Changes in Bank's capital 
 

Position 
Share Capital Retained earnings Other Capital TOTAL 

Balance as of 01 January 2016 
8,200 -2351 0 5,849 

Payment of share capital  2,500 0 0 2,500 
Loss of the current year 0 199 0 199 

Balance as of 31 december 2016 
10,700 -2,152 0 8,548 

Payment of share capital  3,500 0 0 3,500 
Loss of the current year 0 436 0 436 
Other reserves 0 0 105 105 

Balance as of 31 December 2017 
14,200 -1,716 105 12,589 

 
 
Chart 16 – Share capital 

 
 
  

The capital adequacy ratio as at 31 
December 2017 amounted to 12.55% (as at 
31 December  2016 this ratio was 12.86%), 
which is above the required regulatory 
minimum of 10%. 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2. BALANCE SHEET FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.2.4. OFF-BALANCE SHEET RECORDS 

 
Off balance sheet records of the Bank as of 31 December 2017 consist of potential liabilities of the Bank and the rest 
of the off balance sheet referring to the records of received collaterals for credit claims and contingent liabilities of the 
Bank.  
 
Table  20. – Off-balance sheet items 
 

In 000 EUR 31 Dec 31 Dec 
  2017 2016 

Potential liabilities of the Bank 12,415 8,318 
Irrevocable commitments to grant loans 4,305 2,047 
Issued guarantees 8,110 6,271 
-       Issued payment guarantees 3,883 2,398 
-       Issued performance guarantees 4,227 3,873 
Other off-balance sheet items not resulting in 
obligations 239,713 144,882 
Collaterals based on receivables 239,713 144,882 
Total 252,128 153,200 

 
 
Chart 17: Potential liabilities of the Bank 
 

 
 
In addition to off-balance sheet records, in accordance with the Decision of the Central Bank of Montenegro on 

Minimum Standards for Credit Risk Management in Banks ("Official Gazette of the Republic of Montenegro" No. 22/12, 
55/12 and 57/2013) receivables are transferred from the Balance Sheet to internal records if the Bank assesses in the 
procedure of collecting receivables that the value of the receivables measured at amortized cost will not be 
compensated for and that the conditions for the termination of recognition of a financial asset have been met. In 
accordance with the current regulations, the Bank, as at 31 December 2017, has one claim that has been written off 
from the balance sheet in the amount of EUR 5 thousand.  

34.67%

31.28%

34.05%

Bank's potential liabilities as of 
31.12.2017

Irrevocable commitments for granted loans
 Issued payment guarantees
 Issued performance guarantees

The Bank's contingent liabilities at the 
end of 2017 amounted to EUR 12,415 
thousand and consisted of the 
following: 

 
- Approved unused loans in the 

amount of EUR 4,305 thousand 
or 34.67%; 

- Issued payable guarantees in the 
amount of EUR 3,883 thousand 
or 31.28% and 

- Performance guarantees issued 
in the amount of EUR 4,227 
thousand or 34.05% of the 
Bank's contingent liabilities. 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2'017 (Continued) 
 
5.3. INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017 
 

Table 21.- Income Statement 
 

IN 000 EUR:  2017 2016 Index 

Interest income 7,483 5,514 136 

Interest expenses -2,892 -2,052 141 

NET INTEREST INCOME 4,591 3,461 133 

        

Impairment expenses -305 -92 332 

Provision expenses -2 - - 

Fee and commission income 1,732 1568 110 

Fee and commission expenses -1,093 -798 137 

NET FEE INCOME 640 770 83 

        

Net gains from foreign exchange  26 138 19 

Employees’ expenses -2,552 -2,435 105 

General and administrative expenses -1,520 -1,305 116 

Depreciation expenses -385 -325 118 

        

Other expenses -14 -11 125 

Other income - - - 

        

OPERATING PROFIT 479 202 237 

        

Income tax  -43 -2 -2,150 

        

NET PROFIT 436 199 219 

 
 

Interest income achieved an increase of 35.71% compared to the end of 2016, as well as net interest income, 
which had an increase of 32.65%. Although fee and commission income increased by 10.46%, fee expense increased 
by 36.97%, so net fee income decreased 16.88%. Interest income is dominated by income from interest approved to 
commercial companies and accounts for 55.28% of total interest income and it increased annually 35.99%. 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3. INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3.1. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES 

                                                                                                                     
Table 22. -  Interest income and expenses             000 EUR                  Chart 18: Interest income and expenses                                                

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chart 19: Interest income by borrowers 
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Corporate Entrepreneures Retail

Interest income and 
expenses 

2017 2016 Index Difference 

Interest income         

Loans:         
- business 
organizations 

4.115 3.042 135 1.073 

- entrepreneurs 63 51 125 12 

- individuals 3.166 2.394 132 772 

  7.344 5.486 134 1.858 
Interest on securities 
held to maturity  

177 35 500 142 

Impairment costs for 
interest receivables 

-38 -8 466 -30 

Total interest income 7.483 5.514 136 1.969 

Interest expenses         

Deposits:  317 262 121 55 
- business 
organizations 

1.835 1.120 164 714 

- individuals 2.152 1.382 156 769 

  740 670 110 70 
Loans and other 
borrowings 

2.892 2.052 141 839 

Total interest expenses 4.591 3.461 133 1.130 

Interest income per borrowers is 
dominated by interest income coming 
from corporate, but the share of 
interest income from retail is also 
high, due to the maintained high level 
of average interest rates on 
placements making retail  portfolio.  
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3. INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017 (Continued) 

 
5.3.2. FEE INCOME AND EXPENSES 

                                                                                                           
Table 23 -  Fee income and expenses                     000 EUR                    Chart 20: Fee income and expenses  

Fee income and expenses 2017 2016 Index Difference 
Fee income     
Loan fees 554 491 113 63 
Fees for off-balance sheet 
transactions 125 119 105 6 
Fees for payment operations 
services and e-banking 460 351 131 109 
Fees for international 
payments services 289 374 77 -85 
Fees for card operations 243 175 139 68 
Fees for inquiries into the 
Credit Bureau 14 16 86 -2 
Other fees and commissions 47 43 109 4 
Total fee income 1,732 1,569 110 163 
Fee expenses     
Fees to the Central Bank 189 143 132 46 
Fees for international payment 
operations 70 66 107 4 
Fees based on deposit 
protection premium 428 244 175 184 
Fees for e-banking 103 78 132 25 
Fees for card operations 248 226 110 22 
Fees for credit lines 55 36 151 18 
Other fees 0 4 1 -4 
Total fee expenses 1,093 798 137 295 
Net fee income 640 771 83 -131 

 
 

Income from fees coming from corporate sector constitutes 67.78% of the total fee income. Observed by the 
borrowers, income from loan fees constitutes 31.98% of the total fee income and has an annual growth of 13%. Fee 
income from payment operations and e-banking are the second largest fee income and it accounts for 26.56% of total 
fee income and has an annual growth of 31%. Corporate fee expenses constitute 55.77% of total fee expenses. In total 
fee expenses, fees based on the deposit protection premium account for 39% of the total fee income and have annual 
growth of 75%. 
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3. INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3.3. FEE INCOME AND EXPENSES (Continued) 
 
Table 24. -  Fee income and expenses by sectors 
                                                                               ( in 000 EUR) 

INCOME STATEMENT PARAMETERS  2017. 2016.  Index 
Fee income corporate 1,174 1,112  106 
Fee income – retail 558 456  122 
Total fee income 1,732 1,568  110 
Fee expenses – corporate 610 395  154 
Fee expenses  - retail 428 367  117 
Fee expenses – borrowings 55 36  153 
Total fee expenses  1,093 798  137 

 
Chart 21: Structure of fee income by sectors  
 

        
 
 
5.3.4. OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

Operating expenses as of 31.12.2017 amounted to EUR 4,470 thousand and they increased by 9.69% annually. 
Staff expenses account for 57.07% of total operating expenses and they increased 4.80% on annual basis, followed 
by total administrative expenses accounting for 34% of total operating expenses and they increased 16.47% on annual 
basis.   

68%

32%

Fees incomes structure by 
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fees incomes ‐ corporate fees incomes ‐ retail

56%
39%

5%

Fees expenses structure by 
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fees expenses ‐ borrowings

Chart 22: Fee expenses by sectors      
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5. BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3. INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017 (Continued) 
 
5.3.3. OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
Table 25 -  Operating expenses 
                                                                              ( in 000 EUR) 

Operating expenses 2017. 2016. Index 
1 2 3 4=2/3*100 

Employee expenses    
Net salaries 1,320 1,289 102 
Taxes, surtaxes and contributions on salaries 932 922 101 
Other net compensations for employees 40 39 102 
Service contracts (gross) 7 11 57 
Remuneration for  the Board of Directors (gross) 208 138 151 
Remuneration for the members of the Audit Committee 
(gross) 11 7 156 
Travel expenses and per diems 29 23 126 
Staff training 5 6 89 
Total employee expenses 2,552 2,435 105 
Other administrative expenses    
Rental expenses 463 416 111 
External control expenses 144 116 124 
Security and money transfer expenses 260 213 122 
Advertising and marketing 113 115 98 
Licenses and maintenance expenses 136 136 100 
Consulting services 11 1 891 
Other expert fees 71 38 187 
Cost of electricity, fuel and utilities 39 30 131 
Office supplies 26 24 112 
Communication network expenses 41 30 134 
Computer and equipment maintenance 62 41 151 
Telephone 26 19 136 
Membership fee for Bankers Association  18 16 112 
Insurance 26 22 121 
Plastic and card personalization expenses 13 10 132 
Representation expenses 10 10 104 
Cleaning 22 18 120 
Other expenses 39 51 76 
Total other administrative expenses 1,520 1,305 116 
Depreciation expenses 385 325 118 
Other expenses 14 11 122 
Total operating expenses 4,470 4,076 110 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Bank has developed a risk management system that includes identification, measurement, monitoring, 
control and reporting on all types of risks to which the Bank is or may be exposed in its operations. 
 

The Bank continuously, on a daily basis, manages all risks to which it is exposed in its operations. In this regard, 
taking into account the size of the Bank, the complexity of products and services in its operations and risk aversion, 
the Bank has developed an adequate risk management system. The Bank plans to develop this system further by 
incorporating the concept of strengthening the relationship with the risk management and internal capital adequacy 
assessment (ICAAP) to improve the connection between the Bank's risk profile, risk management and the Bank's 
capital in line with the development and changes that the Bank is going through. 
 

In order to establish and continuously develop an adequate system of risk management, in the course of 2017, 
the Bank directed its activities towards: 

 Amendments to internal documents regulating risk management system of which the most important were: 
 Risk Management Strategy 
 Strategy for handling non-performing loans in Lovćen Bank; 
 Credit risk management policy; 
 Operational Risk Management Policy; 
 Policy on public disclosure of data; 
 Procedure for credit risk management of business entities; 
 Procedure on credit risk management in retail business; 
 Procedure on the types and techniques of credit risk mitigation 
 Liquidity risk management policy; 
 Operational Risk Management Procedure; 
 Procedure on classification of placements; 
 Procedure on the Bank's operations with persons related to the bank; 
 Operational objectives for handling non-performing loans of Lovćen Banka; 
 Instructions and methodologies with policies and procedures elaborated in detail, to the level of operational 

details and instructions for handling. 
 clear division of powers and responsibilities for risk management in relation to risk taking; 
 improvement of existing and setting up new internal and external reporting in the area of risk management; 
 developing of risk limitation system (control) for risks taken in its business that is more stringent than the 

statutory minimum; 
 developing of multi-methodological approaches to measure the risks it takes in its business as well as 

mitigation techniques to the level that is acceptable and that ensures the best relation between efficiency and 
security. 
 

The Bank manages the following key risks to which it is exposed to in its operations: 
 Credit risk; 
 Market risks: currency, interest rate, price and credit risks from trading activities; 
 Operational risk; 
 Liquidity risk; 
 Interest rate risk not originating from the banking book ; 
 Country risk; 
 Compliance risk; 
 Reputational risk, 
 Optional risk, 
 Other risks that are materially significant for Bank’s operation. 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the probability of incurring losses in the Bank's operations due to the debtor's failure to fulfill 
obligations to the Bank. Credit risk can occur in activities that are not only related to lending, such as trading activities 
or agency activities unless it is absolutely clear that there is no risk of failure for the Bank to meet contractual obligations 
in relation to which the Bank invested cash and other assets. Credit risk identification should include all those situations 
in which the Bank enters into a relationship with the client, from which it can incur loss if the customer fails to meet their 
contractual obligations on time. 
 

The Bank manages credit risk at the level of individual placements and at the portfolio level, in accordance with 
legal regulations for credit risk management. 
 

The process of credit risk measurement is based on two parallel approaches. 
 

Internal approach - measuring (or estimate of) the risk level of individual placement based on an analysis of 
solvency or by application of internal rating system (IRS). Internal approach to credit risk measurement is implemented 
by applying an analysis of solvency and credit worthiness of borrowers and / or application of the developed internal 
rating system (IRS). 
 

Internal rating system in the Bank is fully adapted to the regulations of the Central Bank of Montenegro and it 
reflects a relatively high level of credit risk aversion of the Bank. 
 

Regulatory approach - classification of claims of the debtor, which is defined in detail in the Methodology for 
classification of placements and the application of IAS and IFRS. 

 
Credit rating category "A" is given to clients with good credit capacity and who are not expected to have 

problems in repayment of obligations. Credit rating category "B" indicates a somewhat weaker financial position of the 
client, which is temporary and does not indicate a problem in repayment of obligations. Credit rating category "C" 
indicates insufficient level of capital and high degree of indebtedness of clients and that the clients do not have sufficient 
cash flow to meet their obligations, so they are late with repayment. The categories "D" and "E" refer to clients with 
obvious financial difficulties, i.e. clients who are in the process of enforced settlement, bankruptcy or liquidation. 
 
Table 26. -  Portfolio structure by classification categories 
 

 
 
 

 Gross exposure includes principal amount and interest and fees receivables  

 

  



 
 

39 

LOVĆEN BANKA 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  (Continued) 
 

Chart 23: Portfolio structure by classification categories for  2017 
 

 
 
The Bank defines due runcollected eceivables as all receivables that are past due at least 1 day in relation to 

the contracted maturity dates. 
 
Table 27. - Overview of total due receivables 

 
*gross exposure includes principal amount and interest and fee receivables 
 

The level of due receivables as of 31.12.2017 is extremely low which reflects the fact that the existing portfolio 
is of good quality, as well as that the Bank is very cautious when it approves new placements.  
 
Table 28. Overview of NPLs 

 
* gross exposure includes principal amount and interest and fee receivables 
 
  

in 000 EUR

Gross 

loans
Due debt % 

Gross 

loans
Due debt % 

Gross 

loans
Due debt % 

Gross 

loans
Due debt % 

Gros 

loans
Due debt % 

Corporate  64,682 976 1.51% 60,174 1,272 2.11% 57,487 1,478 2.57% 54,077 1,146 2.12% 48,146 716 1.49%

Retail 40,053 467 1.17% 36,370 527 1.45% 35,099 450 1.28% 31,591 571 1.81% 28,299 231 0.82%

Total 104,735 1,443 1.38% 96,544 1,799 1.86% 92,586 1,928 2.08% 85,668 1,717 2.00% 76,445 947 1.24%

31.12.2016

Type of client

31.12.2017 30.09.2017 30.06.2017 31.03.2017

Gross loans NPL %  Gross loans NPL %  Gross loans NPL %  Gross loans NPL %  Gross loans NPL % 

Corporate  64,682 323 0.50% 60,174 213 0.35% 57,487 210 0.37% 54,077 297 0.55% 48,146 77 0.16%

Retail 40,053 504 1.26% 36,370 328 0.90% 35,099 350 1.00% 31,591 351 1.11% 28,299 163 0.58%

Total 104,735 827 0.79% 96,544 541 0.56% 92,586 560 0.60% 85,668 648 0.76% 76,445 240 0.31%

in 000 EUR

31.12.2016
Type of client

31.12.2017 30.09.2017 30.06.2017 31.03.2017
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

Chart 24: Value and share of NPLs 
 

 
 

 
Chart 25: NPLs and gross loans  

 

 
 
 
Table 29. Movement of loan portfolio in 2017 

 
 * gross exposure includes principal amount and interest and fee receivables 
 

Loan portfolio, compared to the end of the previous year, recorded an increase of approximately EUR 28 million, 
of which EUR 16 million is related to corporate sector and EUR 12 million to retail. The total share of NPLs at the end 
of 2017 was 0.79%, which is an increase of 0.48 pp. compared to the end of the previous year. 
  

in 000 EUR

Type of client

Corporate  64,682 61.8% 60,174 62.3% 57,487 62.1% 54,077 63.1% 48,091 62.9%

Retail 40,053 38.2% 36,370 37.7% 35,099 37.9% 31,591 36.9% 28,354 37.1%

Total 104,735 100.0% 96,544 100.0% 92,586 100.0% 85,668 100.0% 76,445 100.0%

31.12.2017 30.09.2017 30.06.2017 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

Market risks 
 

By efficient management of market risk, the Bank seeks to minimize the negative effects and eliminate losses 
related to financial instruments, recorded in balance sheet and off-balance sheet caused by changes in interest rates, 
exchange rates, prices, indices and/or other market factors impacting the value of financial instruments, as well as 
losses associated with the turnover of financial instruments on the market, such as: counterparty risk, issuer and 
placement risks. Market risk management in so far phases of development included, in addition to defined 
methodology, the reporting process as well, while the next phase will include the dynamic and quantitative risk 
measurements and stress test analysis. 
     

 Risk Management Division conducts the measurement of interest rate risk by preparing a Report on interest 
rate gap. Report on interest rate risk gap is prepared for the purpose of internal analysis and consideration of mismatch 
of interest-bearing positions of assets and liabilities, including off-balance sheet items, with different aspects of the 
need for analysis. 
 
 The Bank did not include the trading book in its plan, and thus market risk management is simplified and 
includes only management of foreign exchange and price risk. In relation to that, documents were created by which 
measuring and managing of these risks is further improved and at the same time a basis was provided for stress testing 
that measures the effect on equity. 
 

Due to not so significant volume of operations in foreign currencies, exposure to currency risk is very low. 
Naturally, the exposure to currency risk is monitored and managed on daily basis (daily reporting and closing of 
positions) through the maintenance of FX positions within internally prescribed limits. 
 

The system of foreign risk management is based on two parallel approaches: 
 

• currency risk management in accordance with regulatory requirements (regulatory approach); 
• currency risk management based on internal methodologies (internal approach). 

 
Currency risk management, in accordance with regulatory and internal approach and the limit system includes 

regulatory and internally defined limits prescribed by internal documents of the Bank. In 2017, the Bank operated in 
accordance with the established system of limits. 
 

Defined internal limits take into account the currency aspect of GAPs of foreign exchange risks and define the 
structure of limits by all major currencies such as EUR, USD and CHF and for other currencies aggregately.  
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Table 30. - Report on currency risk as at 31.12.2017 
 

 
 

Operational risk 
 
Operational risk management in the Bank is regulated by Operational Risk Management Policy and Procedure 

on Operational Risk Management, in which the method of identification, evaluation and mitigation is precisely defined, 
i.e. monitoring, management and giving proposals for measures aimed at elimination of exposure and consequences 
resulting from exposure to operational risks. 
 

In order to manage operational risk more efficiently, the Bank has implemented a software solution that enables 
persons in charge and persons responsible to report on operational risk through the system, while employees in the 
Risk Management Division are provided with a systematic overview and easier monitoring and reporting. During the 
previous year, the Bank revised complete internal documents related to this area. 
  

The Bank identifies operational risks, whereby the operational risks are classified according to the priority by 
measuring the potential financial impact and frequency of events that may cause losses. 
 

The events reported in the previous period mostly referred to the deficiencies or errors that occur during the 
interaction of internal processes, systems and people or due to external events.  
 

In the process of identifying sources of operational risk, the Bank especially identifies the risks arising from: 
 

 inadequate information and other systems in the Bank; 
 disruptions in operations and system failures (for example: failures related to information technology, 

telecommunication problems, interruptions in work, etc.); 
 impossibility of adequate integration or sustainability of information and other systems in the event of 

changes in the status of the Bank; 
 unlawful and inadequate acting of employees in  the Bank, such as the attempts of fraud, money 

laundering, unauthorized access to clients' accounts, misuse of confidential information, giving false or 
erroneous information on the standing of the Bank, inefficiency in performance of activities, errors in 
entering of data, failure to comply with good business practices in work, etc.; 

 engagement of persons outside the Bank to perform activities for the Bank; 
 acting or failure to act which may cause the judicial and other proceedings against the Bank (legal risk); 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 external illegal acts such as theft, unauthorized transfer of funds, unauthorized entry into the database, 
unlawful obtaining of Bank's documents, etc.; 

 events that cannot be predicted, such as natural and other disasters, terrorism, etc. 
 

Recording of events implies the systematic collection and analysis of data on operational risks in the Bank's 
operation that led to losses. 
 

Pursuant to the plan of improving operational risk management system in the coming period the Bank will: 
 

 work on improving the model for identification of operational risks and collection of data on adverse events 
that occurred as a result of operational risk; 

 continue with the training of employees in order to ensure more efficient operational risk management in 
the Bank.  

 
In accordance with the internal documents, the Bank classifies the identified events that are sources of 

operational risk into event categories. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk management in the Bank is regulated by Liquidity Risk Management Policy and Liquidity Risk 

Management Procedure. 
 

In 2017, the Bank continued to strengthen liquidity which is reflected in the growth of deposit potential in 
comparison to the end of the previous year by approximately EUR 43 million. During 2017 the actual balance of liquidity 
reserves was at a high level. 

 
The Bank has developed several methodologies and back tests for measuring core deposit potential for the 

purpose of liquidity risk management. Liquidity risk management in the reporting period was based on very conservative 
maintenance of the level of liquid assets in average amounts, on a daily basis, significantly above regulatory 
requirements. In order to provide additional sources of liquidity necessary to maintain intensive credit activity and 
ensure settlement of credit obligations, the Bank established communication with potential creditors and implemented 
new credit lines. The interest of creditors for providing additional sources of financing in relation to the intense dynamics 
of collecting deposits and capital strengthening is becoming more pronounced with increasingly favorable lending 
conditions. 

 
The Bank has developed an internal Scoring model for monitoring liquidity risk, which represents the 

measurement techniques used in the process of Bank’s liquidity management. Application of the model is reflected in 
the identification of significant changes in liquidity indicators, their measurement and evaluation. The model is based 
on the calculation of the indicators and determination of their importance, all in order to have an insight in the bank's 
liquidity in the observed period. 

 
In the forthcoming period, the Bank will further work on improving stress scenarios, testing of liquidity plan in 

crisis, and liquidity risk management in the context of the ICAAP. 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
The Bank performs measurement or assessment of current and future exposure to liquidity risk. Measurement 

or assessment of liquidity risk is carried out using the regulatory and internally defined methods and models: 
 
 GAP analysis 
 Ratio analysis 
 Scoring model for liquidity risk 
 Stress test (sensitivity analysis and scenario analysis). 

 
The system of limits in the area of liquidity risk includes: 
 
 defined regulatory limits - primary limits 
 internally defined limits. 

 
Regulatory limits are prescribed by the regulator (the Central Bank of Montenegro) and refer to limits of liquidity 

indicators and limits of maturity matching of assets and resources of the Bank. In this regard, the Bank maintains the 
liquidity level so that the operations of the Bank could be in accordance with statutory limits. 

 
In addition to the above, the Bank has established internal limits as well. 
 
When defining internal limits for exposure to liquidity risk, the Bank takes into account several aspects of 

liquidity risk, limiting the negative effect on the financial result and capital of the Bank, limiting currency and maturity 
structure of its balance sheet and off-balance sheet liquidity indicators. 

 
Table 31. Liquidity ratios 
 

 
* total liabilities are presented without equity 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 

 

Chart 26: Movement of liquidity ratio 
 

 
 
 

Special attention paid by the Bank to monitoring of liquidity risk resulted in the maintenance of a high level of 
liquidity of the Bank during 2017. 

 
According to the methodology of the Central Bank of Montenegro, and indicator of liquidity is the ratio of 

receivables, liquid assets (cash, transaction account, checks, funds on accounts with domestic banks, funds with 
payment operations agents, funds on accounts with foreign banks (demand deposits) and reserve requirement) and 
due liabilities (liabilities related to received loans, interest and fee obligations, liabilities related to term deposits, 30% 
of sight deposits, 10% of approved and unused irrevocable loan obligations - credit lines, other due liabilities). 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Table 32. Liquidity indicator (regulatory approach): 
 

CBCG limits 31.12.2017 

Min. 0.9 – calculated for one working day 2.13 

Min. 1 – calculated as average of all days in a month 2.21 
 
Regulatory approach 
 
During 2017, the liquidity ratio was at a high level. It is expected that the indicator will have lower value in the 

coming period, as the Bank will endeavor to transform liquid assets into new credit placements and secondary, easily 
markertable sources of liquidity in order to manage funds in a better way. 

 
Interest rate risk not arising from trading activities 
 
Determining exposure to interest rate risk is based on Gap analysis for different periods of time, separately for 

items with a fixed interest rate, and separately for items with variable interest rate, as well as aggregately. In this way, 
the effect of the change in market interest rates on the movement of the net interest margin is measured. Interest rate 
risk management is done by closing positions within the internally prescribed limits. 

 
The Bank's interest rate risk management is regulated through the Interest Rate Risk Management Policy. 
 

Table 33. Overview of interest rate GAP as of 31.12.2017  
 

 
 
Plans regarding further development of risk management system  
 
The basic strategic orientation of the Bank in risk management is optimization of the relation between yield or 

earning ability of the Bank and the level of risk taken in terms of expected and unexpected losses in business, and in 
this regard the maintenance of an adequate level of capital in relation to the risk profile of the Bank. In that regard, the 
Bank established a comprehensive and reliable risk management system that is fully integrated into all business 
operations of the Bank. 

 
The Bank recognizes that the improvement of yield to risk ratio achieved in its operations is increasingly under 

the influence of competition, in favor of the quality of risk management over the banking system in which it operates. 
 
In the forthcoming period, the Bank will continuously invest in development and intensify the activities of Risk 

Management Division, in order to improve its market position and market share and minimize the effects that can have 
a negative impact on its operations. 
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
Long-term objectives of the Bank's risk management are: 
 
 Risk management which provides a counter cyclicality of business Strategy and business plans, as well 

as alignment with the opportunities and market development in order to create competitive advantages 
based on knowledge of the specifics of the market; 

 Avoiding or minimizing the risks assumed by applying the most effective techniques, in order to maintain 
the operation within acceptable risk levels; 

 Minimizing the negative effects on the Bank's capital; 
 Maintenance of the level of capital adequacy defined in Capital Management Strategy; 
 Diversification of risks to which the Bank is exposed. 

 
The Bank will continue to develop the risk management system incorporating the concept of internal capital 

adequacy assessment (ICAAP) in order to improve the connection between the Bank's risk profile, risk management 
and capital of the Bank. 

 
The plans of risk management development include: 
 
 further improvement of the Bank’s organization including organizational units involved in risk taking and 

those that are responsible for managing individual types of risks, harmonization with the Bank's risk profile, 
in order to ensure permanent optimization of the management of all risks to which the Bank is or may be 
exposed in its operations; 

 revision of existing documents, bearing in mind the experience in their implementation and continuation of 
the work on the development and improvement of internal documents, 

  improving the efficiency of the information system of the Bank in the function of managing all risks the 
Bank is or may be exposed in its operations;  

 improving the risk management system towards the development of modern standards beyond the current 
requirements arising from regulatory, economic and business environment of the Bank. 

 
Significant focus will be put on further training and professional development of existing staff in general, all in 

order to create the preconditions for the effective implementation of planned activities related to the development of 
the risk  

management system 
 

7. CAPITAL ADEQUACY 
 
Own funds 
 
The Bank is obliged to disclose publicly the information and data that refer to the amount of own funds, in 

particular:  
 

1) concise information which include main characteristics of all items included in the calculation of own funds 
and their elements;  

2) amount of core capital with public disclosure of all items that are included in core capital and deductible items;  
3) total amount of additional capital;  
4) deductible items from core and additional capital and  
5) total own funds reduced by deductible items.  
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7. CAPITAL ADEQUACY  (Continue) 
 
Table 34. - Overview of own funds  
 

 
 
 

In 2017, the Bank undertook a number of activities to improve the capital adequacy ratio through two capital 
increases in the total amount of EUR 3.5 million, as well as through obtaining additional collaterals. 
 

As of 31 December 2017, deductible items reducing the Bank's own funds were related to: 
 

 Loss from previous years of EUR 2.152 million, 
 Missing provisions calculated in accordance with applicable regulations as positive difference between  the 

amount of provisions for potential losses  and sum of  impairments for Balance Sheet items and provisions 
for off-balance sheet items determined for individual items in the amount of EUR 1.6 million. 

 Book value of intangible assets of the Bank as at 31 December 2017 in the amount of EUR 0.3 million. 
 

Risk-weighted balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets, formed in accordance with the Decision on Capital 
Adequacy of Banks as at 31 December 2017 amounted to EUR 74 million. 

 
The solvency ratio is calculated as ratio of own funds and risk weighted balance and off-balance sheet assets. 
 
In accordance with the Decision on Capital Adequacy of Banks, which was valid as of 31 December 2017, the 

Bank was required to maintain a minimum solvency ratio of 10%. 
 
The solvency ratio of the Bank as at 31/12/2017 amounted to 12.55% and was above the legally prescribed 

minimum of 10%. 
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7. CAPITAL ADEQUACY  (Continue) 
 

Table 35. - Report on solvency ratio of the Bank as of 31.12.2017 
 

 
 
 
8. BANK'S BUSINESS UNITS 

 
The Bank has slowly but steadily built its network, wanting to be the first choice of clients, a bank at their 

fingertips, a bank located close to work, home, school or faculty. The proximity of the competition is also one of the 
factors when selecting a location (the so-called Strategy for monitoring competitors and locating facilities in the vicinity 
of competitors' facilities). With the choice of locations for the branches, Lovćen Banka ensured the most attractive 
locations in the towns in which it operates and thus gained an advantage over existing competitors, as well as future 
ones that may come to the market. Currently, the Bank's business network consists of: the Bank's Head Office 
(Headquarters) in Podgorica, which is located in a modern building where core banking functions and 8 other 
organizational units have been established. All organizational units are channels of distribution of the Bank's products 
to clients.  
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8. BANK'S BUSINESS UNITS (Continued) 
 

Table 36. - Business network of Lovćen Banka as of 31.03.2018 
 

No. Branch name  Date of opening Number of employees 
1. Podgorica (Head Office) 24.08.2014 52 
2. Bar 10.01.2015 5 
3. Kotor 20.01.2015 5 
4. Cetinje 20.05.2015 3 
5. Nikšić 16.06.2015 3 
6. Budva 15.07.2015 4 
7. Herceg Novi 15.08.2015 4 
8. Podgorica 1 25.08.2016 12 
9. Ulcinj 29.05.2017 4 
10. Budva – Counter 1 (Bus station)  22.02.2018 1 

 
In 2018, the Bank increased the capacitiy of its Budva Branch by opening a modernly equipped counter at the 

Bus Station, in order to meet numerous requirements of its clients and provide them with a better service. 
 

 

     Location of branches of Lovćen Banka 
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8. BANK'S BUSINESS UNITS (Continued) 
 
Along with the development of branches, the Bank also developed a network of ATMs. 

 
Table 37. List of ATMs 
 

No. Town Number of ATMs 
1. Podgorica 3 
2. Bar 1 
3. Kotor 1 
4. Cetinje 1 
5. Nikšić 1 
6. Budva 2 
7. Herceg Novi 1 
9. Ulcinj 1 
10. Budva  - Counter 1 (Bus station) 1 
  

TOTAL 
12 

 

 

  



 
 

52 

LOVĆEN BANKA 

8. BANK'S BUSINESS UNITS (Continued) 
 
Branches and counters 

Branch BAR 
 
Bulevar JNA b.b. - 85000 Bar 
Phone: + 382 30 550 986, + 382 30 550 994 
E-mail :filijala.bar@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
 
Branch BUDVA 
 
Donji bulevar b.b - 85310 Budva 
Phone: + 382 33 473 994, + 382 33 473 992 
E-mail : filijala.budva@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
 
Counter BUDVA 
 
Autobuska stanica Mercur - 85310 Budva 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
 
Branch CETINJE 
 
Ulica Njegoševa 36 - 81250 Cetinje 
Phone: + 382 78 103 860 , + 382 78 103 861 
E-mail : filjala.cetinje@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
 
Branch HERCEG NOVI 
 
Stepenište Kralja Tvrtka I broj 1 - 85340 Herceg Novi 
Phone: + 382 31 580 966, + 382 31 580 967 
E-mail : filijala.hercegnovi@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
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8. BANK'S BUSINESS UNITS (Continued) 
 
Branch KOTOR 
 
Zgrada Lučke kapetanije b.b. - 85330 Kotor 
Phone: + 382 32 326 005 
Fax: + 382 32 326 004 
E-mail : filijala.kotor@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h  
 
Branch NIKŠIĆ 
 
Trg Save Kovačevića br.4 - 81400 Nikšić 
Phone: + 382 40 280 835, + 382 40 280 834 
E-mail : filijala.niksic@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
 
Branch  PODGORICA 
 
Bulevar Ivana Crnojevića 62/2 - 81000 Podgorica 
Phone: +382 20 683 333 
Fax: +382 20 684 444 
E-mail : filijala.podgorica@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
 
Counter PODGORICA 1 
 
Bulevar Džordža Vašingtona 86 - 81000 Podgorica 
Phone: +382 20 205 410 
Fax: +382 20 205 406 
E-mail : salter.podgorica1@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 20h 
Saturday 08h – 16h 
 
Branch ULCINJ 
 
Ulica 26.novembra b.b. - 85360 Ulcinj 
Phone: + 382 30 684 440, +382 30 684 441 
E-mail : filijala.ulcinj@lovcenbanka.me 
Working hours: 
Monday - Friday 08h – 16h 
Saturday 08h – 13h 
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